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10. Oreanization Chart from The Urban Law Firm

The organization chart provided to the Executive Board on Augﬁst 31, 2016, was revised
. to show duties and reporting obligations to membership and the Executive Board. No other
modified chart was provided that included Mr. Nguyen. See Exhibit 8.

11. SEIU Newsletter - $15,000.00 not approved by Executive Board

Information was provided on this newsleiter, charge for preparation, or Executive Board
approval, This issue was discussed at length at the September 2016 Executive Board meeting.
See Exhibit 9.

12, Alleged comingling of funds

See explanation on No. 7 above. Questionable charges by Ms. Gentry and Mr. Nguyen
were identified from credit card and financial records. See also, explanation in Item No. 2 above.

i3 Directing staff not to provide information

A letter from President Mancini to staff was provided. See Exhibit 10.

14. Nurse representation

No evidence on this issue was produced.

15. Proposed committees

The Executive Board is assigned the right to assign/create committees under the SEIU
Local 1107 Constitution and ByLaws.
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Introduction

Plaintiffs Dana Gentry and Robert Clarke (“Plaintiffs”) do not dispute two essential
points: They did not work for defendants Service Employees International Union (“SEIU”) or
SEIU President Mary Kay Henry (“Henry), and they did not have employment contracts with
SEIU or Henry. Nor do they point to a single piece of evidence that demonstrates that either
SEIU or Henry had any role in, let alone directed, their terminations from defendant Service
Employees International Union, Local 1107 (*Local 1107”), their former employer. Summary
judgment for SEIU and Henry is therefore proper on all of the claims against them in the first
amended complaint.

Hoping the Court will ignore the absence of evidence tying SEIU or Henry to their
terminations, Plaintiffs now argue that SEIU and Henry are alter-egos of Local 1107. However,
Plaintiffs were required to plead this theory of liability in their first amended complaint, and they
did not. Having failed to plead it, they waived it. And even if they did not waive it, they have
nonetheless failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding the putative alter-ego status
of SEIU, Henry, and Local 1107.

Last, regardless of any of the above, Plaintiffs offer no convincing reason that would
overcome federal preemption of their claims. A consistent body of caselaw supports the
conclusion that the sort of breach of contract, wrongful termination, and related claims Plaintiffs
have brought conflict with the federal Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act
(“LMRDA”). Because Plaintiffs were former policymaking and confidential personnel at Local
1107, the LMRDA authorized the Local 1107 Trustees’ termination of their employment. That
is especially so in the face of the undisputed evidence of Plaintiffs’ hostility to the Local 1107
Trustees and the trusteeship itself.

In short, SEIU and Henry respectfully submit that summary judgment should be granted
in their favor on all claims against them in the first amended complaint.

Iy
Iy
Iy

2
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Argument

. Plaintiffs’ Have Waived their Alter-Ego Argument by Failing to Raise it in the First

Amended Complaint.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that they did not have employment contracts with either SEIU or
Henry, an essential, and yet missing element of their breach of contract claims. Plaintiffs also do
not dispute that they did not work for either SEIU or Henry, another essential, and yet missing
element of their wrongful termination claims. Instead, at the eleventh hour, Plaintiffs now argue
that SEIU and/or Henry were alter-egos of Local 1107, their former employer. PItffs’ Opp. at 6-
18.

Plaintiffs” alter-ego argument is waived. A complaint must “set forth sufficient facts to

demonstrate the necessary elements of a claim for relief so that the defending party has adequate
notice of the nature of the claim and relief sought.” Western States Constr. v. Michoff, 108 Nev.
931, 936 (1992). A plaintiff therefore “cannot oppose summary judgment on grounds not in
issue under the pleadings.” Kimura v. Decision One Mortg. Co., LLC, Case No. 2:09-cv-01970-
GMN-PAL, 2011 WL 915086, at *4 (D. Nev. Mar. 15, 2011); Nev. Civ. Prac. Manual 19.08[1]
(“[T]he party opposing summary judgment may not do so on the basis of unpled allegations or
claims appearing for the first time in the opposition to summary judgment.”).

In particular, courts have ruled that a plaintiff may not oppose summary judgment by
raising an alter ego theory that is not pleaded in the operative complaint. See Marshall v.
Anderson Excavating & Wrecking Co., 901 F.3d 936, 942-43 (8th Cir. 2018) (holding that
district court erred in applying alter ego theory of liability where “plaintiffs never pleaded an
alter ego theory in their complaint”); Garcia v. Village Red Rest. Corp., Case No. 15-civ-62 92
(JCF), 2017 WL 1906861, *5-6 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (rejecting alter ego argument where not raised
in pleadings); Travelers Cas. And Sur. Co. v. Dormitory Authority-State of New York, 735 F.
Supp. 2d 42, 81-82 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (holding that party may not “resist summary judgment by
relying on alter-ego theory” where not raised in pleadings; noting “summary judgment is not a
procedural second chance to flesh out inadequate pleadings”). Plaintiffs did not raise the alter-
ego claim in their complaint or in their first amended complaint. Having failed to plead it, they

3
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are barred from raising it as a basis to resist summary judgment.
The only time Plaintiffs raised an alter-ego argument was in their reply in support of their

motion to amend the complaint, but the Court denied their motion for leave to amend as to SEIU

and Henry. And despite making the argument in support of their motion to amend, Plaintiffs did

not plead their alter-ego claim in their first amended complaint. As a result, SEIU and Henry

were not on notice that Plaintiffs intended to litigate the alter-ego status of SEIU, Henry, and
Local 1107 in connection with the claims in the first amended complaint. Plaintiffs therefore
cannot defeat summary judgment on the basis of a theory of liability not pled in the first
amended complaint. Because alter ego liability is the only basis for holding SEIU and Henry
liable for the contract and wrongful termination claims in the first amended complaint, summary
judgment in favor of SEIU and Henry is appropriate.t

. Even If Plaintiffs Did Not Waive the Alter-Ego Theory, They Fail to Create a

Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding the Alter-Ego Status of SEIU, Henry, and

Local 1107.

Even if Plaintiffs are permitted to raise their alter-ego claim to defeat summary judgment,
despite having waived it by not pleading it in their complaint or first amended complaint, they
have failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding the alleged alter-ego status of
SEIU, Henry, and Local 1107.

Plaintiffs” alter-ego argument relies primarily on two contentions. First, they contend
that SEIU and Local 1107 are alter-egos by virtue of SEIU’s imposition of a trusteeship over
Local 1107. PIltffs’ Opp. at 10-11. Second, they contend that two email chains among former
Local 1107 Trustee Luisa Blue, then-SEIU Deputy Chief of Staff Deirdre Fitzpatrick, and SEIU
President Mary Kay Henry establish that SEIU “expressly directed the terminations of Plaintiffs’
employment with Local 1107.” PItffs’ Opp. at 13. As discussed below, these contentions do not
create a genuine issue of material fact that SEIU, Henry, and Local 1107 are alter-egos.

Iy

1 The only remaining claim against SEIU and Henry is intentional interference with contractual
relations. That claim is addressed in Section III,4infra.

Case No. A-17-764942-C 1071




© 00 ~N o o b~ w NP

T T N B N N T N T N T N O N N I T e i e =
©® N o U B~ W N P O © ©® N o o~ W N L O

A Alter-Ego Standard.

“[T]he corporate cloak is not lightly thrown aside and . . . the alter ego doctrine is an
exception to the general rule recognizing corporate independence.” Truck Ins. Exchange v.
Palmer J. Swanson, Inc., 124 Nev. 629, 635 (2008). Thus, “[u]nder the principle of corporate
separateness, the actions of a subsidiary company are generally not attributable to its parent
corporation.” Viega GmbH v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 130 Nev. 368, 383 (2014) (Pickering,
J., concurring).

Instead, “[i]t must be shown that the subsidiary corporation is so organized and
controlled, and its affairs are so conducted that it is, in fact, a mere instrumentality or adjunct of
another corporation.” 2 Bonanza Hotel Gift Shop, Inc. v. Bonanza No. 2, 95 Nev. 463, 466
(1979). The “*essence’ of the alter-ego doctrine is to ‘do justice’ whenever it appears that the
protections provided by the corporate form are being abused.” LFC Marketing Group, Inc. v.
Loomis, 116 Nev. 845-46 (2000).

The elements for finding an alter ego, which must be established by a preponderance of

the evidence, are: ‘(1) the corporation must be influenced and governed by the person

asserted to be the alter ego; (2) there must be such unity of interest and ownership that
one is inseparable from the other; and (3) the facts must be such that adherence to the
corporate fiction of a separate entity would, under the circumstances, sanction [a] fraud
or promote injustice.” [Polaris Indus. Corp. v. Kaplan, 103 Nev. 598, 601]. Further, the
following factors, though not conclusive, may indicate the existence of an alter ego
relationship: (1) commingling of funds; (2) undercapitalization; (3) unauthorized

diversion of funds; (4) treatment of corporate assets as the individual’s own; and (5)

failure to observe corporate formalities. See id. at 601, 747 P.2d at 887. We have

2 Plaintiffs appear to argue that the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Carbon Fuel Co. v.
United Mine Workers of Am., 444 U.S. 212 (1979), establishes the appropriate standard for
evaluating SEIU’s alter-ego liability. PItffs’ Opp. at 8-9. Carbon Fuel has no application here.
That case addressed a distinct issue, i.e., agency liability of an international union under 29
U.S.C. 8§ 185 for a wildcat strike of a local union. See Carbon Fuel, 444 U.S. at 213. By
contrast, Plaintiffs’ claims are based on state law, not federal law. Hence, alter-ego status must
be evaluated under Nevada law. Moreover, Plaintiffs contend that SEIU is Local 1107’s alter-
ego, not that Local 1107 was SEIU’s agent, a dis\r;[inct legal concept addressed in Carbon Fuel.

Case No. A-17-764942-C 1072




© 00 ~N o o b~ w NP

T T N B N N T N T N T N O N N I T e i e =
©® N o U B~ W N P O © ©® N o o~ W N L O

emphasized, however, that “[t]here is no litmus test for determining when the corporate

fiction should be disregarded; the result depends on the circumstances of each

case.” Id. at 602, 747 P.2d at 887.
Loomis, 116 Nev. at 904. As shown below, Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate the existence of a
genuine issue of material fact regarding the alter-ego status of SEIU, Henry, and Local 1107.

B. Plaintiffs Fail to Show SEIU or Henry Influenced or Governed Local 1107.

Plaintiffs have failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding the first alter-ego
factor, namely, that Local 1107 was “influenced and governed” by SEIU or Henry. Loomis, 116
Nev. 896, 904.

The mere fact that the Local 1107 Trustees were appointed by SEIU — the primary pillar
of Plaintiffs’ alter-ego argument, see PItffs” Opp. at 12-13 — does not make the Local 1107

Trustees “influenced and governed” by SEIU or Henry. The opposite is true as a matter of law.

“A trustee assumes the duties of the local union officer he replaces and is obligated to carry out
the interests of the local union and not the appointing entity.” Campbell v. Int’l Bhd. of
Teamsters, 69 F. Supp. 2d 380, 385 (E.D.N.Y. 1999) (emphasis added); see also Dillard v.
United Food & Commercial Workers Union Local 1657, Case No. CV 11-J-0400-S, 2012 WL
12951189, at *9 (N.D. Ala. Feb. 9, 2012) (“As a matter of law, a trustee steps into the shoes of
the local union’s officers, assumes their rights and obligations, and acts on behalf of the local
union.”) (emphasis added), aff'd, 487 F. App’x 508 (11th Cir. 2012); see also Perez v. Int’l Bhd.
of Teamsters, AFL-CIO, Case No. 00-civ-1983-LAP-JCF, 2002 WL 31027580, at *5 (S.D.N.Y.
Sep. 11, 2002) (same); Fields v. Teamsters Local Union No. 988, 23 S.W.3d 517, 525 (Tx. Ct.
App. 2000) (same). In fact, at her deposition SEIU Chief of Staff Dierdre Fitzpatrick described
the role of a trustee in precisely these terms: “The trustees stand in the shoes of the local and they
make all decisions for the local around staffing.” Supplemental Declaration of Jonathan Cohen
(“Supp. Cohen Decl.”), Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 34:19-22.

Hoping to overcome this point, Plaintiffs note that the SEIU Constitution provides that an
appointed trustee “shall report on the affairs/transactions of the Local Union . . . to the
International President. The Trustee and all of the acts of the Trustee shall be subject to the

6
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supervision and direction of the International President.” Pltffs’ Opp. at 15 (see Fitzpatrick
Appx. at 22 (SEIU Const., Art. VI, § 7(b))). However, in the corporate context, a parent

company always has some measure of control over a subsidiary. See Viega GmbH v. Eighth

Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 368, 378 (2014) (“In the corporate context, however, the relationship
between a parent company and its wholly owned subsidiary necessarily includes some elements
of control.”); MGM Grand, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist., 107 Nev. 65, 68-69 (1991) (holding that
Disney’s Nevada subsidiaries’ contacts could not be imputed to Disney for purposes of
exercising jurisdiction where “Disney exercises no more control over its subsidiaries than is
appropriate for the sole shareholder of a corporation”); In re W. States Wholesale Natural Gas
Antitrust Litigation, Case No. 2:03-CV-01431-PMP-PAL, 2009 WL 455653, *12 (D. Nev. Feb.
23, 2009) (rejecting alter-ego status between parent and subsidiaries, noting that “[the parent’s]
promulgation of general policies for its subsidiaries is consistent with its indirect investor
status”).

Furthermore, the mere fact that an international union has the right to supervise or control

the acts of a trustee is not evidence that it actually exercises control over the day-to-day

operations of a local union under trusteeship. That principle was recognized in Herman v.

United Bhd. Of Carpenters and Joiners of Am., Local Union No. 971, 60 F.3d 1375 (9th Cir.
1995), where the court rejected the argument that an international and local union were a single
employer of purposes of establishing liability under the federal Age Discrimination in
Employment Act or Nevada law, even though under the international union’s constitution it
“ha[d] the power to impose trusteeships over locals and control their affairs.” 1d. at 1383
(emphasis added). As the court observed, such features “are common in union constitutions and
do not sufficiently evidence the type of inter-relationship between the day-to-day operations of
the International and the local union” required to establish they were a single employer.® Id. at

1383-84. That same reasoning applies here: That the SEIU Constitution reserves to the SEIU

3 The four factors the Ninth Circuit considered in evaluating single employer status were
“1) inter-relation of operations; 2) common management; 3) centralized control of labor
relations; and 4) common ownership or financial700ntrol.” Herman, 60 F.3d at 1383.
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president some degree of supervision over the conduct of a trustee does not mean that SEIU or
Henry actually exercised influence and control over the Local 1107 Trustees.

The decision in Fields v. Teamsters Local Union No. 988, 23 S.W. 3d 517 (Tx. Ct. App.
2000), is also instructive. There, an international union placed a local union under trusteeship,
and the international president had authority “to involve himself in staffing decisions of the local
union during trusteeship.” Id. at 525. The court also found that, although the trustee was in
charge of the local union, he was “under the direction of the [international] General President.”
Id. Even so, the court held that the two unions were not a “single employer” for purposes of
liability for the plaintiff’s termination under the state’s discrimination statutes.* See id. at 524-
25. Among other things, the court cited the principle that “a trustee assumes the duties of the
local union officer he replaces and is obligated to carry out the interests of the local union and
not the appointing entity,” and found that the trustee “made the final decisions regarding
employment matters related to [the plaintiff].” Id. at 525.

As in Fields, the evidence is uncontradicted that the Local 1107 Trustees, not SEIU or
Henry, made the decision to terminate Plaintiffs. See Declaration of Martin Manteca in Support
of Summary Judgment, 1 5; Declaration of Luisa Blue in Support of Summary Judgment, § 5.
Equally important, there is no evidence that SEIU or Henry exercised day-to-day control over the
affairs of Local 1107. See In re W. States Wholesale Natural Gas Antitrust Litigation, 2009 WL
455653, *12 (rejecting alter ego status where “Plaintiffs present no evidence that [the parent]
played a role in the day-to-day conduct [of its subsidiaries] operational business.”). To the
contrary, SEIU Chief of Staff Fitzpatrick’s testimony is undisputed that “[t]he trustees of the
local union make determinations about how to handle all of their contracts and staffing.” Supp.
Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo Tr. at 60:6-8; see also id., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 33:18-20 (“The
International union doesn’t advise or direct in [any] way around staff contract and management
of the decision-making around staff.”); id., Ex. A, Depo Tr. at 48:16-17 (“It is our practice not to

advise locals, period. Locals employ staff.”); id.. Ex. A, Depo Tr. at 60:6-8 (“The trustees of the

4 The court in Fields evaluated the “single employer” issue by applying the same four factors
applied by the court in Herman. See note 3, supga; Fields, 23 S.W. 3d at 524.
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local union make determinations about how to handle all of their contracts and staffing.”); id.,
Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 96:14-18 (“[T]he Local 1107 trustees are charged with the responsibility of
running the local union. And the International union does not monitor the activities of trustees in

running the local union.”). Missing from Plaintiffs’ opposition is any evidence to the contrary,

i.e., that SEIU or Henry exercised day-to-day control over the Trustees’ administration of Local

1107, let alone that they made the decision to terminate the Plaintiffs.

The most Plaintiffs have mustered in support of their belated alter-ego claim are two
email chains, neither of which creates a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Local
1107 was influenced or governed by SEIU. See Truck Ins. Exchange, 124 Nev. at 636 (rejecting
alter-ego status between firms where no evidence “that the Nevada firm was influenced and
governed by the California firm”). The first email chain shows that the day after the Trustees
terminated Plaintiffs” employment with Local 1107, then-Local 1107 Trustee Luisa Blue
reported the terminations to then-SEIU Deputy Chief of Staff Fitzpatrick, and that Fitzpatrick, in
turn, reported the terminations to SEIU President Henry.®> See PItffs’ Opp. at 13 (citing PItffs’
Appx, Ex. 12, 759-60). But the mere fact that Blue reported the terminations to SEIU after

Plaintiffs were terminated is insufficient to overcome the presumption of corporate separateness

and establish alter-ego status between SEIU and Local 1107. See In re W. States Wholesale Nat.
Gas Antitrust Litigation, 2009 WL 455653, *12 (rejecting alter-ego status between parent and
subsidiary despite evidence that parent “monitor[ed] [subsidiaries’] performance” and that
subsidiary engaged in “daily reporting” to parent); cf. Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 380 (holding
that regular reporting by subsidiary to parent did not establish agency relationship but instead
“merely show the amount of control typical in a parent-subsidiary relationship”).

Plaintiffs note that in the same email chain SEIU President Henry wrote to then-SEIU

® Plaintiffs grossly mischaracterize this email chain, contending it shows that “[t]he SEIU
Defendants also expressly directed the terminations of Plaintiffs’ employment with Local 1107.”
PItffs” Opp. at 13. In fact, the email chain begins with then-Trustee Blue reporting to then-SEIU
Deputy Chief of Staff Fitzpatrick that she had already terminated the Plaintiffs. PItffs® Appx.,
Ex. 12 at 760 (*“So far so good 8 days into the trusteeship. 2 dirs., Financial Dir. And
Communications Dir. were let go yesterday . . ..”). Nothing in that email shows that SEIU
“expressly directed” Plaintiffs’ terminations frorg Local 1107.
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Deputy Chief of Staff Fitzpatrick stating that then-Local 1107 Trustee Blue was “on the program
to get rid of staff quickly. She is documenting the staff.” PItffs’ Opp. at 13 (citing Appx., Ex. 12
at 759). Fitzpatrick responded to Henry, “[t]hey are getting rid of managers who are not a fit
with the new direction of the local . . . Positive steps. They need to temper themselves on the

rest, for a variety of reasons. Documenting is good.” Id. Again, missing from these emails,

which are from the day after Plaintiffs’ terminations, is any evidence that SEIU influenced or

governed the decision of the Local 1107 Trustees to terminate Plaintiffs. Instead, this is an email

conversation internal to SEIU, not with the Local 1107 Trustees, regarding the status of the

recently imposed trusteeship.
As Fitzpatrick explained in her deposition when asked about this email with SEIU
President Henry:
THE WITNESS: This was several days after the imposition of the trusteeship, and |
believe that what | was referring to here was [Trustee] Luisa [Blue]’s report that she had
let staff go and my sort of general awareness that they were running a process of
interviewing all of the staff to learn about sort of what the work in progress was and to
verify that they were willing to work under the direction of the trustees.
Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 39:19-40:4. Fitzpatrick further testified as follows
regarding the email:
Q. Okay. Yeah, what did you mean in your email?
A. Yeah. What | meant in my e-mail was that | was conveying what | learned from
Luisa [Blue], the trustee of the local, about the course they were on to assess the staff and
to ensure that they could run the local union. | thought it was a positive development that
they were assessing the staff and making progress on getting the function of the local
union back up, period.
Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 41:7-14. When asked whether there is an SEIU
“program to get rid of staff when a trusteeship was imposed,” Fitzpatrick responded, “No, there
is not.” Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 29:5. Finally, when asked what she meant in her
email when she said, “Documenting is good,” Fitzpatrick testified as follows:

10
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Q. What do - - what’s the documenting part? What are you documenting? Documenting

for the purpose of termination, or - -?

A. ldon’t-- 1 wouldn’t read it that way. | read it as the conversations with staff to learn

everything about what they’re doing, what pressing work is coming up, what the scope of

their work is, and confirming their willingness to cooperate under the direction of the

trustees.
Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 41:18-42:1.5

In short, this first email chain does not create a genuine issue of fact regarding SEIU’s
control or influence over Local 1107. It simply reflects, as one would expect, a report from the
Local 1107 Trustees about the state of affairs following imposition of the trusteeship, and an
internal conversation between SEIU’s then-Deputy Chief of Staff and its President regarding the
Trustees’ actions, including their decision to terminate the Plaintiffs. Such evidence is
insufficient to establish alter-ego status between SEIU and Local 1107. See Truck Ins.
Exchange, 124 Nev. at 636; In re W. States Wholesale Nat. Gas Antitrust Litigation, 2009 WL
455653, *12; cf. Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 380.

Finally, Plaintiffs point to a second email from Fitzpatrick to then-Local 1107 Trustees

Blue and Manteca. PIltffs’ Opp. at 13 (citing PItffs” Appx., Ex. 12, 758). As with the other email

chain, nothing about this email chain establishes that SEIU played any role in the day-to-day

affairs of Local 1107, that Local 1107 was influenced or governed by SEIU, or that SEIU

directed Plaintiffs’ terminations. In her email, Fitzpatrick informs the Trustees that if they are

going to ask other SEIU-affiliated local unions to loan staff to Local 1107 during the trusteeship,
to let Fitzpatrick, then-SEIU Deputy Chief of Staff, know beforehand. In relevant part, the email
from Fitzpatrick states as follows:

Otherwise, do either of you have ideas from other local union staff? If so, please let me

¢ As discussed in SEIU’s motion for summary judgment, the Local 1107 Trustees met with
Local 1107 staff following imposition of the trusteeship to learn about their job duties and to
confirm their loyalty to the Trustees. SEIU Motion at 9:2-6. The Trustees also asked staff to
complete a written questionnaire regarding their job duties. Appx. to Cohen Decl. at 33-34
(Depo. Tr. 183:17-184:15).

11
Case No. A-17-764942-C 1078




© 00 ~N o o b~ w NP

T T N B N N T N T N T N O N N I T e i e =
©® N o U B~ W N P O © ©® N o o~ W N L O

know and I’d like [SEIU President Henry] to help loosen things up to get staff on a
longer term loan (or Luisa, depending on the local you may be the better person but let’s
talk first). It’s important to let me know before going to other locals to make the ask —
[SEIU President Henry’s] policy is that need to know when we are suggesting asking
other locals to support a trusteed local, just so it’s aligned with other moving parts
between her and SEIU locals. In general, it’s a good way to fill gaps; the process should

just move through exec office.

PItffs” Appx., Ex. 12, 758. In her deposition, Fitzpatrick explained as follows about this email:

Q. If you’ll look in the middle of that first paragraph, it says MK’s policy is that needs to
go - - or that needs to know when we are suggesting asking other locals to support a
trusteed local. What’s that policy?

A. There is no written policy. This is probably more - - would have been better put as a
practice, that Mary Kay’s operating need is to know when we’re making asks for a
trusteeship of other local unions within SEIU, because the International union is in all
kinds of transaction with other local unions and she needs to be aware when we’re asking
local unions to commit capacity to a trusteeship in the event that it pulls against another

priority for that local.

Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 49:9-18. Fitzpatrick was then asked if “the SEIU

International is involved in the staffing of a trusteed local then,” and she responded,

THE WITNESS: | would say involved only in the broadest sense, that a local in
trusteeship very often identifies urgent operating needs and areas of expertise and staffing
shortfalls and asks the International union if we can hep locate people who could go in
and work under the trustees’ direction in the local. And in that way, the International
sometimes reaches to local unions to say do you have two field organizers who could

come in for two weeks and work with the trustees in Local ABC.

Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. A, Depo. Tr. at 50:5-14.

As Fitzpatrick’s testimony makes clear, this second email chain reflects, at most, that

SEIU wanted to be aware if the Local 1107 Trustees were asking other SEIU-affiliated local

12
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unions to loan staff to “work under the trustees’ direction.” But evidence that a subsidiary entity
regularly reports to a parent corporation, and that parent corporation monitors the subsidiary
entity’s operation, does not establish they are alter-egos. See In re W. States Wholesale Nat. Gas
Antitrust Litigation, 2009 WL 455653, *12; cf. Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 380. Again, this email
chain fails to show that SEIU played any role in the day-to-day affairs of Local 1107, that Local
1107 was influenced or governed by SEIU, or that SEIU directed Plaintiffs’ terminations.

In sum, Plaintiffs have failed to create a genuine issue of fact regarding the first alter-ego
factor.

C. Plaintiffs Fail to Show SEIU or Henry Shared a Unity of Interest with Local

1107.

Plaintiffs have utterly failed to create a genuine issue of material fact that SEIU or Henry
shared a unity of interest and ownership with Local 1107, the second alter-ego factor. See
Bonanza, No. 2, 95 Nev. at 466.

In support of their argument, Plaintiffs point to the fact that SEIU imposed a trusteeship
over Local 1107, removed its officers, suspended its bylaws, and appointed trustees. PItffs’ Opp.
at 12-13. But, as noted earlier, the Local 1107 Trustees “assume[d] the duties of the local union
officer [they] replace[d] and [were] obligated to carry out the interests of the local union and not
the appointing entity.” Campbell, 69 F. Supp. 2d at 385 (emphasis added); Dillard, 2012 WL
12951189, at *9; Perez, 2002 WL 31027580, at *5; Fields, 23 S.W.3d at 525. Thus, as a matter
of law, the trusteeship itself is not evidence that there was a unity of interest between SEIU,
Henry, and Local 1107. The contrary conclusion Plaintiffs urge would turn this well-established
legal principle on its head.

Moreover, Plaintiffs have failed to present an iota of evidence regarding the traditional

unity of interest factors. Plaintiffs do not point to evidence that there was any comingling of

funds between SEIU and Local 1107; that SEIU and Local 1107 had the same operations; that

SEIU and Local 1107 had the same headquarters;’ that SEIU and Local 1107 had the same bank

’ To the contrary, Local 1107 is headquartered in Las Vegas, while SEIU is headquartered in
Washington, D.C. Fitzpatrick Decl., 1 3, 5. SEllil%J has its own officers and executive board that
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accounts; or that SEIU or Local 1107 failed to observe corporate formalities. See Truck Ins.
Exchange, 124 Nev. at 637 (affirming finding that no alter-ego relationship existed where, inter
alia, purported alter-ego maintained separate federal tax identification numbers; possessed
independent business license; tax license; staff; phone line; insurance coverage; office sublease);
Bonanza No. 2, 95 Nev. at 467 (affirming finding that no alter-ego relationship existed where
“separate corporate books and accounts were kept,” separate directors’ meetings where held,;
“corporations had independent headquarters, separate business responsibilities and operations™).
Nor do Plaintiffs offer a shred of evidence or a single argument regarding SEIU President
Henry’s alleged unity of interest or ownership with Local 1107.

Put simply, Plaintiffs have failed to create a genuine issue of material fact that there was
a unity of interest between SEIU, Henry, and Local 1107, the second alter-ego factor.

D. Plaintiffs Fail to Show Adherence to Separate Corporate Forms Would

Sanction a Fraud or Promote Injustice.

As with the second alter-ego factor, Plaintiffs have completely failed to demonstrate a
genuine issue of material fact that adherence to separate corporate forms would sanction a fraud
or promote injustice, the third alter-ego factor. See Bonanza, No. 2, 95 Nev. at 466; see DFR
Apparel Co., Inc. v. Triple Seven Promotional Prods., Inc., Case No. 2:11-cv-01406-APG-CWH,
2014 WL 4828874, *3 (D. Nev. Sep. 30, 2014) (“Even where two companies appear to be
heavily intertwined, alter ego liability applies only if adherence to corporate forms would result
in injustice.”).

Plaintiffs” sole argument regarding this factor is that it would sanction a fraud and
promote injustice to make the Local 1107 membership pay for the actions of the Trustees. Pltffs’
Opp. at 13-14. There is nothing fraudulent or unjust about this.® The Trustees were acting on

behalf of Local 1107, not SEIU, during the trusteeship. Campbell, 69 F. Supp. 2d at 385.

govern its affairs. See id., | 3; see also id., Ex. A (SEIU Constitution and Bylaws, Arts. VII-XI).
8 If anything, imposing liability on SEIU, the international union with which Local 1107 is
affiliated, would be a greater injustice. See Loomis, 116 Nev. at 905-06 (recognizing “that there
are other equities to be considered in the reverse piercing situation — namely, whether the rights
of innocent shareholders or creditors are harmed by the pierce”).

14
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In any event, Plaintiffs” argument fundamentally misconstrues the basis of the third alter-
ego factor. “In cases finding the injustice prong met, there is usually evidence proving the
controlling entity somehow used the alter-ego company to commit tortious conduct, hide assets,
or prevent debtors from collecting their debts.” DFR Apparel Co., Inc., 2014 WL 4828874, *3;
In re W. States Wholesale Natural Gas Antitrust Litigation, 2009 WL 455653, at *12 (rejecting
alter-ego claim where plaintiff failed to show “fraudulent intent or perpetration of a fraud

through use of the corporate structure on the parent’s part”). Here, there is no evidence

whatsoever that the trusteeship was merely a ruse to commit tortious conduct or perpetuate

fraud. In fact, the United States District Court for the District of Nevada rejected the argument
that the trusteeship was imposed in bad faith, and instead concluded that SEIU imposed the
trusteeship for a lawful, and critically important, purpose — because, among other reasons, “board
meetings were marked by yelling and near physical confrontations that impacted the board’s
ability to function,” the union was “chaotic and dysfunctional,” “the Local was not meeting its
obligations to members,” and “[m]embers and staff were filing charges against each other,
calling the police on each other, and taking out temporary protective orders against each other.”®
Garciav. Serv. Employees Int’l Union, et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-01349-APG-NJK, 2019 WL
4279024, *13 (D. Nev. Sep. 10, 2019).

Finally, Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate that Local 1107 would be unable to satisfy
an eventual judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs. Cf. Lorenz v. Belito, Ltd., 114 Nev. 795, 809
(1998) (holding that plaintiffs satisfied third alter-ego factor where “[i]f the Strubles are not held
personally liable for Beltio, Ltd.’s debt, the Lorenzes will never have a chance to receive the rent
or other payments they deserve because Betlio, Ltd. filed for bankruptcy”).

Iy

% Citing to SEIU’s emergency trusteeship order, Plaintiffs repeatedly claim that the trusteeship
was imposed in part “for the purposes of preventing disruption of contracts.” See, e.g., PItffs’
Opp. at 10 (citing Fitzpatrick Appx. at 204). Based on that contention, they claim it is somehow
inconsistent with the emergency trusteeship order to sanction the Trustees’ termination of their
employment, despite their employment agreements. This argument is specious. The purpose of
the trusteeship, as found by the District Court and as recited in the trusteeship order, was to
prevent Local 1107 from slipping any further into chaos and dysfunction, not to protect the
Plaintiffs’ employment with Local 1107. See Gialsrcia, 2019 WL 4279024, *12-14.
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In sum, Plaintiffs have failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact regarding the
third alter-ego factor.

I11.  Plaintiffs Have Failed to Create a Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding their

Claim for Interference with Contract.

Plaintiffs have failed to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding their claim
against SEIU and Henry for intentional interference with contractual relations.

Plaintiffs” argument in support of their claim is somewhat confusing. First, they argue
that the “Trustees are the individuals who interfered with Plaintiffs’ contract.” Pltffs’ Opp. at
18:8-9. But the Trustees acted on behalf of Local 1107, not SEIU or Henry. Campbell, 69 F.
Supp. 2d at 385; Dillard, 2012 WL 12951189, at *9; Perez, 2002 WL 31027580, at *5; Fields,
23 S.W.3d at 525. Hence, taking Plaintiffs at their word that the Local 1107 Trustees were the
ones that interfered with their contracts, their claim is really one against Local 1107 for breach of
contract, not a claim against SEIU or Henry.

However, Plaintiffs also contend that SEIU “was promoting and recommending that the
Trustees terminate Plaintiffs’ employment with Local 1107 to further the new program, and was
recommending replacing Plaintiffs with employees the SEIU International was recommending.”
PItffs’ Opp. at 18:22-25. Again, Plaintiffs rely on the email chain discussed in Section 11.B,
supra. PItffs’ Opp. at 18 (citing PItffs” Appx., Ex. 12, 758-60).

As already discussed at length above, nothing in those emails demonstrates that SEIU or

Henry recommended the Plaintiffs’ terminations, let alone that they took any concrete action

“intended or designed to disrupt the contractual relationship” between Local 1107 and Plaintiffs.
See J.J. Indus., LLC v. Bennett, 119 Nev. 269, 274 (2003). To the contrary, the emails show that
then-Local 1107 Trustee Blue reported to SEIU about the terminations of Plaintiffs after they
occurred. Hence, as a matter of timing alone, the emails fail to demonstrate that SEIU or Henry
did anything designed to disrupt Plaintiffs’ contracts.

Furthermore, aside from Blue’s report to Fitzpatrick, the emails reflect only an internal
conversation between SEIU about the fact of Plaintiffs’ terminations and the status of the
trusteeship. Indeed, the emails fail to show that SEIU or Henry did anything at all to disrupt

16
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Plaintiffs” employment with Local 1107. Put simply, nothing in the emails creates a genuine

issue of material fact that SEIU or Henry engaged in any “intentional acts designed to disrupt the
contractual relationship” between Plaintiffs and Local 1107. See J.J. Indus., LLC, 119 Nev. at
274.

Finally, Plaintiffs” attempt to distinguish the decisions in Pape v. Local 390 of Int’l Bhd.
of Teamsters, 315 F. Supp. 2d 1297, 1318 (S.D. Fla. 2004), and Dean v. General Teamsters
Union, Local No. 406, No. G87-286-CA7, 1989 WL 223013 (W.D. Mich. Sept. 18, 1989), fails.
In each case, as here, the international union constitution authorized an appointed trustee to
terminate the plaintiffs. See SEIU Motion for Summary Judgment, at 19-20. In each case, as
here, the plaintiff’s claim to a contractual right of continued employment with the local union
was subject to the right of the international union to appoint a trustee who could terminate that
employment. See id. Thus, as in both Pape and Dean, Plaintiffs’ intentional interference with
contract claims fail.

In sum, Plaintiffs fail to present even a scintilla of evidence that SEIU or Henry took
some action with “an improper objective of harming Plaintiff[s] or wrongful means that in fact
caused injury to Plaintiff[s’] contractual” relationship with Local 1107. See Nat’l Right to Life
Political Action Comm. v. Friends of Bryan, 741 F. Supp. 807, 815 (D. Nev. 1990).

IV. LMRDA Preemption Applies Here.

In their opposition to Local 1107°s motion for summary judgment, Plaintiffs argue that
LMRDA preemption does not apply here for two main reasons. Since their arguments apply
equally to SEIU’s and Henry’s LMRDA preemption defense, SEIU and Henry address the
arguments here.

A. The LMRDA Protects an Unelected Union Leader’s Ability to Terminate

Appointed Staff.

Plaintiffs argue that LMRDA preemption does not apply because they were terminated by
an appointed trustee, not an elected officer. SEIU and Henry have already addressed this
argument at length in their opposition to Plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment. See
SEIU Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, at 5-9. They therefore

17
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refer the Court to that briefing instead of repeating it here.
B. Plaintiffs Were Policymaking and Confidential Staff Subject to LMRDA
Preemption.

Plaintiffs argue that they were not the type of appointed employees that are subject to
LMRDA preemption. PItffs’ Opp. to Local 1107’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“Pltffs’
Local 1107 Opp.”), at 20-27. Their arguments are not convincing.

1. Screen Extras Guild Applies to Managers Like Plaintiffs.

First, Plaintiffs argue that the holding of Screen Extras Guild, Inc. v. Superior Court, 51
Cal. 3d 1017 (1990), only applies to policymaking or confidential employees, not “management
employees.”?? PItffs’ Local 1107 Opp. at 20.

That argument is easy to refute: As the Court held in Screen Extras Guild, “Congress
intends that elected union officials shall be free to discharge management or policymaking
personnel.” 51 Cal. 3d at 1028 (emphasis added); see also id. at 1031-32 (noting that “Smith
herself acknowledges . . . that she was considered a management employee”). Ultimately,
however, the distinction between policymaking and managerial personnel is a semantic one;
managers of an organization are by definition policymaking personnel.

2. Undisputed Evidence Establishes Plaintiffs’ Policymaking
Responsibilities.

Next, despite having already admitted that they were managers, Plaintiffs argue that they
were not policymaking personnel. PItffs’ Local 1107 Opp. at 21. Their argument rests primarily
on two points: They note that their positions are not defined by the Local 1107 or SEIU
constitutions, and they claim that an organizational chart from Local 1107 shows their lack of
policymaking authority. Id.

Whether their positions are defined or identified by either union’s constitution is
irrelevant. Indeed, Plaintiffs fail to cite a single case identifying that as a consideration in

evaluating LMRDA preemption in this context. Rather, the key consideration here is the role

19 This is a key point for Plaintiffs, since they already conceded in earlier briefing to this Court
that they were managers at Local 1107. See SEIU Motion for Summary Judgment, at 25, 27.

18
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Plaintiffs played in carrying out the programs and policies of the union’s leadership. See Screen
Extras Guild, Inc., 51 Cal. 3d at 1031. SEIU and Henry have already briefed at length the
Plaintiffs’ significant responsibility in that regard, and refer the Court to that briefing. See SEIU
Motion for Summary Judgment, at 25-29.

Nor does the organizational chart reveal anything about their duties and responsibilities.
That is especially so, since Plaintiffs do not dispute any of the substantial evidence that they had

significant responsibility in connection with implementing Local 1107 policy, which is based on,

inter alia, their own sworn deposition testimony, their detailed job descriptions which they

admitted were accurate, and their own written descriptions of their job duties following

implementation of the trusteeship.!

3. Plaintiffs Were Also Confidential Employees.
Plaintiffs also contend that neither of them was a confidential employee within the
meaning of Screen Extras Guild and its progeny. PItffs’ Local 1107 Opp. at 21-25.

The undisputed facts belie that claim.'?> Given the nature of their job duties, it is obvious

11 Adding to the mountain of evidence against the Plaintiffs on this point, former Local 1107
Executive Board member (and current Local 1107 President) Brenda Marzan testified as follows
regarding Gentry’s policymaking responsibility: “But let me be clear on this. As the
communications director, [Gentry] would have had complete authority to bring information to
[former Local 1107 President] Cherie Mancini that would have been used the help create policy.
[T] So as management, she would have had the ability to influence policy.” Supp. Cohen Decl.,
Ex. B, Depo. Tr. 237:9-14. When asked, “But did she [Gentry] make policy?” Marzan
responded, “That is making policy. If you’re influencing policy, you are helping make policy.”
Id., Ex. B, Depo. Tr. 237:15-17 (emphasis added).

12 Plaintiffs do not dispute that Gentry, the union’s Director of Communications, was
responsible for, inter alia, devising and implementing all of the union’s strategic external and
internal communications plans regarding collective bargaining, political, and other vital matters,
advising the union’s leadership about strategic communications, acting as the union’s public
spokesperson, and advising the union about its legislative strategy. SEIU Motion at 4-6.
Plaintiffs likewise do not dispute that Clarke, the Finance and Human Resources Director, inter
alia, had access to and oversaw all of the union’s finances, including all of its bank accounts;
oversaw payroll and accounts payable and receivable; led in budget planning; was responsible
for legal compliance regarding human resources matters; coordinated the union’s annual audit;
oversaw the union’s tax and Department of Labor reporting obligations; maintained all of the
union’s personnel records; and oversaw personnel administration. SEIU Motion at 6-7. Clarke
also played a key role providing financial advice to Local 1107 in connection with its collective
bargaining negotiations with its staff, and partic{gating in disciplinary hearings for staff. See
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that each of them, in addition to being policymaking employees, were also confidential
employees. See Thunderburk v. United Food and Commercial Workers’ Union, 92 Cal. App. 4th
1332, 1343 (2001) (holding that union’s executive secretary was confidential employee within
meaning of Finnegan v. Leu, 456 U.S. 431 (1982), where she “had access to confidential union
information, which, if disclosed, could have thwarted union policies and objectives”); Burrell v.
Cal. Teamsters, Public Professional and Medical Employees Union, Local 911, Case No.
B166276, 2004 WL 2163421, *4 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004) (holding that union office manager was
confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan where she “had access to confidential
information regarding the Union, its members and officers, and its financial and legal matters”);
Hodge v. Drivers, Salesmen, Warehousemen, Milk Processors, Cannery, Dairy Employees &
Helpers Local Union 695, 707 F.2d 961, 964 (7th Cir. 1983) (holding that union secretary was
confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan where she had “wide-ranging . . . access to
sensitive material concerning vital union matters”).!3

4, The Caselaw Plaintiffs Rely On is Inapposite.

Plaintiffs also rely on several inapposite cases in support of their argument that LMRDA
preemption does not apply here. PItffs’ Local 1107 Opp. at 24-25.

First, Shuck v. Int’l Ass’n of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, Dist. 837, Case No.
4:16-CV-309 RLW, 2017 WL 908188 (E.D. Mo. March 7, 2017), is a case about removal on the
basis of complete preemption, not the defense of conflict preemption. And while the decision
disagrees with the holding of Screen Extras Guild, SEIU and Henry are not aware of a single

other case that has cited it as authority. It is therefore of limited persuasive authority here.

Supp. Cohen Decl., Ex. C, Depo. Tr. at 50:5-53:3.

13 Plaintiffs cite NLRB v. Henricks Cty. Rural Elec. Membership Corp., 454 U.S. 170 (1981),
and related cases as support for their argument that a confidential employee is one who acts in a
confidential capacity “to persons who exercise managerial functions in the field of labor
relations.” PItffs’ Local 1107 Opp. at 22-23. As an initial matter, Hendricks addresses a distinct
issue from LMRDA preemption — it concerns what type of individual is considered an employee
under 82(3) of the National Labor Relations Act. See id. at 177. In any event, even if the Court
were to consider that test here, Plaintiffs easily satisfy it, since they themselves were managers
overseeing sensitive, confidential matters related to the union’s collective bargaining and related
strategic goals.
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Second, Plaintiffs cite Lyons v. Teamsters Local Union No. 961, 903 P.2d 1214 (Ct. App.
Colo. 1995), which addressed the termination of a union secretary and bookkeeper. But the court
expressly noted that “there has been no contention or showing that [the plaintiff] was
instrumental in establishing the Union’s administrative policies or that her firing was related to
her views on union policy.” Id. at 1220. By contrast, Plaintiffs, not mere clerical employees but
former Directors at Local 1107, were regularly engaged in management-level decision making in
connection with their respective duties.

Third, Plaintiffs cite Young v. Int’l Bhd. of Locomotive Engineers, 114 N.E.2d 420 (Ct.
App. Ohio 1996). But that case is more helpful to SEIU and Henry than it is to Plaintiffs, since

the court acknowledged that whether the action was preempted depended on “whether the

appellee was a policy-making or confidential employee.” 1d. at 504.1* Citing Lyons, supra, the

court noted that “[a] purely clerical employee, such as a secretary/bookkeeper, is not the type of
employee to whom preemption applies.” Id. Here, however, neither Plaintiff was a “purely
clerical employee;” each was a manager and Director with significant policymaking
responsibility.
5. Plaintiffs Ignore Evidence of Their Disloyalty.
Last, Plaintiffs simply ignore the undisputed evidence of their disloyalty to the Local
1107 Trustees, perhaps hoping the Court will too.

Such evidence should not be ignored. That evidence is a key reason that LMRDA

preemption exists — to prevent policymaking employees from undermining the administration of
the union. See Screen Extras Guild, Inc., 51 Cal. 3d at 1029. Given the widespread dysfunction
and chaos that plagued Local 1107 prior to the trusteeship, see Garcia, 2019 WL 4279024, *13,
the Local 1107 Trustees had every reason for wanting to replace the former management-level
staff of the union. Federal law gave them that right.

Iy

14 young reflects that Ohio, yet another jurisdiction in addition to California, Montana,
Michigan, and New Jersey, See SEIU Motion for Summary Judgment, at 24, & n.5-7, has
applied the reasoning of Screen Extras Guild.
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V. SEIU President Henry Must Be Dismissed from This Case.

Aside from any earlier point in this brief, there is no reason that SEIU President Henry

belongs in this case.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that Henry had no contract with them. Plaintiffs do not dispute
that Henry did not employ them. In fact, Plaintiffs have failed to present evidence that Henry
had a single contact or communication with them, or took any action relevant to this lawsuit,
other than imposing the trusteeship over Local 1107 at the request of Local 1107’s former
executive board and pursuant to her undisputed authority under the SEIU Constitution.

It therefore appears that the only reason Plaintiffs have sued SEIU President Henry is
because she is the top elected official of SEIU, not because she personally did anything to
subject her to liability. As a result, she should be dismissed from this lawsuit.

Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, SEIU and Henry respectfully request summary judgment in

their favor on all claims against them in the first amended complaint.

DATED: November 22, 2019 ROTHNER, SEGALL & GREENSTONE
CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By /s/ Jonathan Cohen

JONATHAN COHEN
Attorneys for Service Employees International
Union and Mary Kay Henry
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| am an employee of Rothner, Segall & Greenstone; my business address is 510 South
Marengo Avenue, Pasadena, California 91101. On November 22, 2019, | served the foregoing
document described as SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION’S AND
MARY KAY HENRY’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT on the interested parties in this action as follows:

(By ELECTRONIC SERVICE)
x| Pursuant to Rule 8.05 of the Rules of Practice for the Eighth Judicial District Court of the
I State of Nevada, the document was electronically served on all parties registered in the
case through the E-Filing System.

Michael Macavoyamaya: mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail.com
Evan James: elj@cjmlv.com

(By U.S. MAIL)
By depositing a true and correct copy of the above-referenced document into the United
States Mail with prepaid first-class postage, addressed as follows:

Michael J. Mcavoyamaya Evan L. James
4539 Paseo Del Ray Christensen James & Martin
Las Vegas, NV 89121 7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Email: Mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail.com Tel:  (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871
Email: elj@cjmlv.com

/s/ Lisa C. Posso
Lisa C. Posso
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LUISA BLUE, in her official capacity as MARY KAY HENRY’S MOTION FOR
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in his official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
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I, Jonathan Cohen, declare as follows:

1. I am a member of the law firm Rothner, Segall & Greenstone and am counsel to
défendants Service Employees International Union (“SEIU”) and Mary Kay Henry. I make this

declaration in support of SEIU’s and Henry’s motion for summary judgment.

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit A are true and correct copies of excerpts of the

certified transcript of the deposition of Diedre Fitzpatrick, taken on July 29, 2019.

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit B are true and correct copies of excerpts of the

certified transcript of the deposition of Brenda Marzan, taken on September 24, 2019.

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit C are true and correct copies of excerpts of the

certified transcript of the deposition of Robert Clarke, taken on May 30, 2019.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the
foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on November 22, 2019, in Pasadena, California.

By__ /s/Jonathan Cohen
JONATHAN COHEN
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Marengo Avenue, Pasadena, California 91101. On November 22, 2019, I served the foregoing
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witness herein,

notice,

BARNES,

Columbia,

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual;

and

ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,

Plaintiffs,

SERVICE EMPLOYEES
INTERNATIONAL UNION, a
nonprofit cooperative
corporation; et al.

Defendants.

Washington, D.C.
Monday, July 29, 2019

Deposition of DEIRDRE FITZPATRICK, a

Plaintiffs in the above-entitled matter, pursuant to

called for examination by counsel for

the witness being duly sworn by STEPHANIE
a Notary Public in and for the District of

taken at the offices of SEIU Headquarters,

X
Case No.
A-17-764942-C
Dept. No: 26
X
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1 1800 Massachusetts Avenue, Northwest, Washingtbn,

2 D.C., at 10:47 a.m., Monday, July 29, 2019, and the
3 proceedings being taken down by Stenotype by

4 STEPHANIE BARNES, and transcribed under her

5 direction.
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20
21
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1 APPEARANCES:
2
3 On behalf of the Plaintiffs:
4 MICHAEL J. MCAVOYAMAYA, ESQ.
5 Michael J. Mcavoyamaya
6 4539 Paseo Del Ray
7 Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
8 (702) 299-5083
9 Mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail .com
10
11 On behalf of the Defendants:
12 GLENN ROTHNER, ESQ.
13 Rothner, Segall & Greenstone
14 510 South Marengo Avenue
15 Pasadena, California 91101
16 (626) 796-7555
17 Grothner@rsglabor.com
18
19
20
21
22
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1 Q. So the e-mail to you from Mary Kay Henry,

2 you see where it says -- it's bullet point 2 --

3 "She's on the program to get rid of staff quickly.

4 She is documenting the staff."

5 A, Yes, I see that.

6 Q. Why was -- I mean, who was she referring

7 to there?

8” .A. | VI -~

9 MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Lacks

10 foundation.

11 THE WiTNESS: Do I answer?

12 MR. ROTHNER: I made an objection. If you
13 can answer, go ahead.

14 THE WITNESS; I'm only inferring, but it

15 looks like she's referring to Luisa.

16 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

17 Q. So Luisa Blue the trustee?

18 A. The trustee.

19 Q. So why is Mary Kay Henry saying that Luisa
20 was on the program to get rid of staff quickly?

21 What's the program?

22 MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Lacks

1098
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foundation.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Is there an SEIU International program to
get rid of staff when a trusteeship was imposed?

A. No, there is not. That's not how I would
interpret that.

Q. Okay. Are you aware that there's been
a -- so with regards to the trusteeship, I'm sure
you're aware there's a number of cases that I'm
involved in. Do you understand that?

A. I know about the one in which I was
deposed and I know about this one.

Q. Are you aware that there was an NLRB case
that recently went to trial and it now has an order?

A. I think heard something about an NLRB case
and I don't know anything other than that. I didn't
know it had gotten an order.

Q. Okay. If you could put this e-mail aside
just real quick.

MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: And, Glenn, if you could

hand her the transcript from the NLRB trial that I

sent over.
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foundation.

THE WITNESS: I don't know if the local
fired staff after that trusteeship.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. So if there's existing contracts at a
local union, how do you instruct your -- the SEIU
International trustees to proceed?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Assumes facts
not in evidence -- |
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. For the staff. Sorry about that.

A. Do you mean collective bargaining
agreements?

Q. Or any kind of other contract, employee
contract?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Assumes facts
not in evidence. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: The International union
doesn't advise or direct in way around staff contract
and management of thé{decision-making around staff.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. So you don't --

1100
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1 A. Of a union matter.

2 Q. Do you instruct your trustees to honor

3 existing contracts that local union has or --

4 MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Lacks

5 foundation.

6 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

7 Q. Are they permitted to breach those

8 contracts? I mean, is there just no guidance

9 whatsoever that you provide to them?

10 MR. ROTHNER: Objection.' Compound. Lacks
11 foundation.

12 THE WITNESS: So if I can just unpack your
13 questions, what we typically do in a trusteeship is
14 provide a checklist that includes a4best practice

15 process to assess and evaluate the staff capacity and
le to learn what the work is that's happening inside the
17 local. 1It's a template with blanks. The

18 International union often provides that to trustees.
19 The trustees stand in the shoes of the

20 local and they make allideciSionsifqr the local

21 around staffing. And I don't think I could say that
22 there is a policy or practice or a usual, and I'm not

1101
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1 aware that the International union ever requires

2 anything from local leaders, including trustees.

3 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

4 Q. Do you train the trustees that you

5 appointment to operate and manage a trusteeship?

6 MR. ROTHNER: Objection.

7 MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: Provide any training?

é MR. ROTHNER: Beyond the scope of the

9 30(b) (6) deposition notice and lacks foundation.

10 THE WITNESS: You're asking if we provide

11 training for how to run a local union?

12 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

13 Q. Yeah, while it's under a trusteeship? Do

14 you provide any training for the trustees before they
15 go and serve as trustee?

16 THE WITNESS: No. Typically folks who are
17 asked by the International president to be asked

18 trustees are asked because they have relevant

19 experience in running a local union organization.

20 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

21 Q. What was Martin Manteca's prior

22 experience?

162
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to be performed in effectuation of the trusteeship
that couldn't be performed by the current staff.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Why couldn't it be performed by the
current staff? That's my question.

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Lacks
foundation.

THE WITNESS: I have no idea. It would
depend on the work.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Do you see where it says -- where you
respond at the top? It says, they are getting rid of
the managers who are not fit with the new direction
of the local?

A. I see it.

0. What was the new direction of the local?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Assumes facts
not in evidence and lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: This was several days after
the imposition of the trusteeship, and I believe that
what I was referring to here was Luisa's report that

she had let staff go and my sort of general awareness
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1  that they were running a process of interviewing all
2 of the staff to learn about sort of what the work in
3 progress was and to verify that they were willing to
4 work under the direction of the trustees.

5 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

6 Q. Why did you not -- why was there an

7 opinion that they couldn't work under the direction
8 of the trustees?

9 MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Lacks

10 foundation. Calls for speculation.

11 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

12 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

13 0. See in the next sentence on that -- well,
14 I mean, this is positive steps, so where it says --
15 where you say in response, "They need to temper

16 themselves on the rest for a variety of reasons.

17 Documenting is a good," what did you mean by that?
18 And I just want to direct you to Mary Kay's e-mail
19 where she says she was on the program to get rid of
20 staff quickly. She is documenting the staff. So
21 then you respond they need to temper themselves on
22 the rest for a variety of reasons. Documenting is

1104
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union back up, period.

good.
What does that exchange mean?
A. I can tell you what it means to me. I

don't know --

Q. Okay. Yeah, what did you mean in your
e-mail?
A. Yeah. What I meant in my e-mail was that

I was conveying what I learned from Luisa, the
trustee of the local, about the course they were on
to assess the staff and to ensure that they could run
the local union. I thought it was a positive
development that they were assessing the staff and

making progress on getting the function of local

Q. What do -- what's the documenting part?
What are you documenting? Documenting for the
purpose of termination, or --

A. I don't -- I wouldn't read it that way. I
read it as the conversations with staff to learn
everything about what they're doing, what pressing
work is coming up, what the scope of their work is,

and confirming their willingness to cooperate under
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the direction of the trustees.
Q. Okay. And that's what you meant by your

e-mail or is that how you're reading it?

A. That's how --

Q. I'm trying to get what you mean in the
e-mail.

A. That's how I'm interpreting it sitting

here today.

Q. Okay. Well, I'm asking you what you
meant, like, when you sent it. Like, I mean,
you're -- yeah. What did you mean when you sent it?
A, I've just given you my best recollection

of what I meant when I said that.
Q. Okay. ©So now you're saying it's your best

recollection that that's what you meant?

A. Yes, that's what I'm now saying.

Q. Okay. Just trying to keep it clear.
Okay.

A. Appreciate that.

Q. Yep.

Next you talk about the racial dynamics of

the local union in this e-mail. Why does that
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were included as evidence at the internal needs and
internal charges hearings?

A. No, I was not.

Q. Okay. 1If the International had known that
Robert, Peter, and Dana had for-cause contracts with
the local, would you have advised the trustees to
maintain their employment?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Calls for
speculation.

THE WITNESS: Are you asking me as a
30(b) (6) witness whether it's our practice to advise
locals in that circumstance?
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Yeah. To honor an employment contract if
one exists?

A. It is our practice not to advise locals,
period. Locals employ staff.

Q. If you'll hand her SEIU 75. 1It's an
e-mail earlier from that day, 6:09 a.m.

MR. ROTHNER: Would you like it marked?
MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: Yes, please.

(FITZPATRICK Exhibit No. 4 was marked
1107
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for identification.)
THE WITNESS: Thank you.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. If you'll look in the middle of that first
paragraph, it says MK'S policy is that needs to go --
or that needs to know when we are suggesting asking
other locals to support a trusteed local.

What's that policy?

A. There is no written policy. This is
probably more -- would have been better put as a
practice, that Mary Kay's operating need is to know
when we're making asks for a trusteeship of other
local unions within SEIU, because the International
union is in all kinds of transaction with other local
unions and she needs to be aware when we're asking
local unions to commit capacity to a trusteeship in
the event that it pulls against another priority for
that local.

Q. Commit capacity. What do you mean? Does
that mean staff?

A. Yeah, it means staff.

0. So the SEIU International is involved in
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the staffing of a trusteed local then?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. Misstates the
evidence. Misstates the testimony and assumes facts
not in evidence.

THE WITNESS: I would say involved only in
the broadest sense, that a local in trusteeship very
often identifies urgent operating needs and areas of
expertise and staffing shortfalls and asks the
International union if we can help locate people who
could go in and work under the trustees' direction in
the local. And in that way, the International
sometimes reaches to local unions to say do you have
two field organizers who could come in for two weeks
and work with the trustees in Local ABC.

BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. So the International is -- essentially,
they go out and find the staff to go on loan for the
locals?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection --

BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
Q. Is that how you -- you guys facilitate the

loaning of the staff? Is that what you're trying to
1109
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Washington, DC Page 51
1 say?
2 MR. ROTHNER: Objection. It's compound
3 and misstates the testimony.
4 THE WITNESS: I would say that when the
5 trustees of a local union request help from the
6 International around capacity, just as when local
7 unions who are not trusteed ask for help with
8 capacity, we try to help. And that can sometimes
9 mean going to other locals finding out whether they'd
10 be willing to loan staff or provide other kinds of
11 capacity expertise.
12 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
13 Q. Okay. I want to go back to something you
14 said earlier --
15 MR. ROTHNER: Could you hold that thought
16 for just a moment?
17 MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: Sure.
18 MR. ROTHNER: I need to explain something
19 to the court reporter.
20 So this Exhibit 2, as you marked it, had
21 writing on the back of the page and another document.
22 So it's substituted with a clean version of Exhibit 2
116
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1 financial/accounting staff.
2 What does temp mean?
3 A. What I meant by temp was hiring somebody
4 on a temporary basis.
5 Q. So like a temporary is like a temporary
6 employment agency?
7 A. It could be or it could also be a
8 freelancer who we know does this kind of work or has
9 this capacity who works on a project basis.
10 Q. And so if you've had success using temp
11 agencies for financial/accounting staff, does that
12 indicate that typically in other trusteeships
13 financial/accounting staff were terminated and you
14 bring new people in?
15 A. No, it does not.
16 Q. Are you aware there wags a collective
17 bargaining agreement between Local 1107 and the
18 nonmanagerial staff at Local 11077
19 A. A Yes, I am today aware of that.
20 Q. What is SEIU International's policy or
21 practice of honoring those collective bargaining
22 agreements? Do they meet those terms? Are the
it
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trustees instructed to meet the terms of those
agreements?

MR. ROTHNER: Assumes facts not in
evidence and it is beyond the scope of topics
enumerated in the 30(b) (6) deposition notice.

THE WITNESS: The trustees of the local
union make determinations about how to handle all of
their contracts and staffing.

BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Do you give them any training on how to
handle collective bargaining agreements with existing
staff?

MR. ROTHNER: Objection. It's beyond the
scope of the 30(b) (6) deposition notice topics.

THE WITNESS: No, we don't train trustees
in particular, but, as I said, trustees are often
selected because of their experience in managing
aspects of local unions.

BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

0. So you're chief of staff for SEIU
International?
A. I am.

1112
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Washington, DC Page 95
1 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
2 Q. This states that Mr. Manteca skipped the
3 steps of progressive discipline in the CBA between
4 Local 1107 and the staff union?
5 A. It says --
6 MR. ROTHNER: Séme objection.
7 THE WITNESS: -- Manteca at first
8 testified that progressive discipline was followed.
9 Then later, after being led to the language of the
10 CBA, changed his testimony to suggest that the
11 actions were severe enough to skip progressive
12 discipline.
13 It describes his testimony.
14 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
15 Q. So the SEIU International trustee skipped
16 the progressive discipline steps then?
17 MR. ROTHNER: You continue to
18 mischaracterize prior testimony and assume facts not
19 in evidence. The trustee was the trustee of the
20 local union.
21 MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: That's correct.
22 MR. ROTHNER: And what his testimony was
113
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and what the content of this decision is is reflected
in document, which are the best evidence of those
topics.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Go ahead and answer.

MR. ROTHNER: And it's beyond the scope of

the 30(b) (6) deposition notice in this case.
BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. Go ahead and answer.

A. I don't know what Mr. Manteca did or
didn't do. I don't know.

Q. Is that because SEIU International wasn't
monitoring what the Local 1107 trustees were doing?

A. It's because the Local 1107 trustees are
charged with the responsibility of running the local
union. And the International union does not monitor
the activities of trustees in running the local
union.

Q. Okay. So if the International trustees
appointed and the trustees appointed by SEIU
International just start breaching contracts at a

local union, SEIU International just allows them to

1114
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CERTIFICATE OF DEPONENT
I hereby certify that I have read and examined the

foregoing transcript, and the same is a true and
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Brenda Marzan & As 30(b)(6) Rep. for Local 1107's Finances ~ September 24, 2019
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* * * Confidential Deposition * * *

Page 2
1 APPEARANCES:
2 For the Plaintiffs:
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Macavoyamaya Law
4 4539 Paseo Del Ray
Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
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A. No.

Q. Going back a little bit, I think some
things have changed so I'm going to go over some of
the background.

What is your current position with Local
11072

A. I am the president.

MR. JAMES: Objection. Vague and
ambiguous. Are you talking about her current
position as a 30(b) (6) witness or as a fact witness?

MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: Well, I mean that's just
personal background.

MR. JAMES: Are you wanting an answer a
particular way?

MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: As a fact witness.

MR. JAMES: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Then I am a business analyst
for Clark County, Nevada.

BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:

Q. No, no. What's your position with the
union?

A. I'm the president.

Q. Okay. And that was in the recent election
of officers in May of 2018? Or no, no, no. It would

have been March of 20192

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com 1119
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* * * Confidential Deposition * * *

Page 10
1 A. Yes.
2 Q. And what was your position prior to that?
3 A, I was the vice president of the
4 nonsupervisory unit of Clark County and an executive
5 board member.
© MR. JAMES: Of what?
7 THE WITNESS: Of Local 1107.
8 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
9 Q. And who was the executive director of Local
10 11072
11 A. There was no executive director of Local
12 1107.
13 Q. Right now.
14 A. Grace Vergara-Mactal.
15 Q. And what position did she hold prior to the
16 election in March?
17 A. She was -- I don't know her title. She
18 worked for International.
19 Q. So you're saying she was not an employee of
20 the Local?
21 MR. JAMES: Objection. Vague and
22 ambiguous. It's unclear whether or not you're asking
23 her as a 30(b) (6) witness or as a fact witness.
24 MR. MCAVOYAMAYA: I will let her know when
25 the -- when I am asking a question from the 30(b) (6)

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com 1120
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Page 235
A. Correct.
Q. But the staff is under Mancini-?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. So who creates the policies of the

local union?

A. What time frame?

Q. 2016. If you take a look at SEIU 938.
SEIU 938, Article 8. Under Section 2 "Authority,"
under bullet point A: "It is the board's authority
to establish plans, policies, procedures that are
required for the direction and operation of the local
union and the carrying out of the decisions of the
membership"?

A. Yes.

Q. So the directors aren't charged with

establishment of plans, policies or procedures, are

they?
A. That is not correct.
Q. Okay.
A. So what is meant by -- here the

establishment is actually the adoption.

So normally the board did not break into
groups and come up with policy. Policy was brought
to the board for adoption. So that's the

establishment of that policy.

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com 1121
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* * * Confidential Deposition * * *

Page 236
1 Q. Okay. Did you make any testimony at the
2 October 29th and 30th, 2016, hearings regarding the
3 lack of policy at Local 11077
4 A. Yes.
5 Q. And did you testify at all at that hearing
6 that it was the board's responsibility to develop
7 those policies?
8 A. Actually, I think what I said is I could
9 help develop policies because that's what I do in my
10 job.
11 Q. Okay. So what policy did Dana Gentry
12 create for Local 1107 --
13 MR. COHEN: Objection. Vague.
14 BY MR. MCAVOYAMAYA:
15 Q. -- that did not go through Mancini or the
16 executive board?
17 A. So first of all, I would say number one was
18 that the newsletter that the -- there was never any
19 authority given by the board to do the newsletter.
20 That would have probably been some kind of -- that
21 should have been in some kind of policy.
22 As to what money is allowed to be spent on
23 certain things, if -- who should be brought into
24 things should have been a policy. Who information
25 should go out to could have possibly been a policy.

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com 1122
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Page 237
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Q. Could have been?
A. Probably should have been.
Q. Okay. But what I'm saying is, so you

mentioned the newsletter. Are you saying Dana Gentry
just created the newsletter on her own and decided to
spend the money to create the newsletter?

A. I don't know how the newsletter came about.
I just know that it showed up.

But let me be clear on this. As the
communication director, she would have had complete
authority to bring information to Cherie Mancini that
would have been used to help create policy.

So as management, she would have had the
ability to influence policy.

Q. Okay. But did she make policy?

A. That is making policy. If you're
influencing policy, you are helping make policy.

Q. But didn't you say that -- so then Cherie
Mancini could just make policy on her own?

A. It has to be adopted by the board.

Q. So she recommends it to Cherie and then
Cherie brings it to the board, then the board has to
approve it and the membership could overturn it if
they wanted to? 1Is that a correct, you know,

description of the organizational structure?

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com 1123
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1 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER
2 I, the undersigned, a Certified Shorthand
3 Reporter of the State of Nevada, do hereby certify:
4 That the foregoing proceedings were taken
5 before me at the time and place herein set forth;
6 that any witnesses in the foregoing proceedings,
7 prior to testifying, were duly sworn; that a record
8 of the proceedings was made by me using machine
9 shorthand which was thereafter transcribed under my
10 direction; that the foregoing transcript is a true
11 record of the testimony given to the best of my
12 ability.
13 Further, that before completion of the
14 proceedings, review of the transcript [ X ] was
15 [ ] was not requested pursuant to NRCP 30(e).
16 I further certify I am neither financially
17 interested in the action, nor a relative or employee
18 of any attorney or party to this action.
19 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have this date
20 subscribed my name.
21
22 Dated: September 30, 2019
: 2.
24
GALE SALERNO, RMR, CCR #542
25
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Robert L. F. Clarke

Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
2 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
3
DANA GENTRY, an individual; )
4 and ROBERT CLARKE, an )
individual, )
5 )
Plaintiffs, ) Case No.
6 ) A-17-764942-C
vs. )
7 ' )
SERVICE EMPLOYEES )
8 INTERNATTIONAL UNION, a )
nonprofit cooperative )
9 corporation; et al., )
)
10 Defendants. )
)
11
12
13
14 DEPOSITION OF ROBERT L. F. CLARKE
15 Taken on Thursday, May 30, 2019
16 By a Certified Court Reporter
17 At 9:33 a.m.
18 At 7440 West Sahara Avenue
19 Las Vegas, Nevada
20
21
22 Reported by: Wendy Sara Honable, CCR No. 875
Nevada CSR No. 875
23 California CSR No. 13186
Washington CCR No. 2267
24 Utah CCR No. 7357039-7801
Job No. 34103
25
1127
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC 37 Page: 1



Robert L. F. Clarke

Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.
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Attorney at Law
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
702.299.5083
mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail . com

Evan L. James

Christensen James & Martin
7440 West Sahara Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117
702.255.1718

702.255.0871 Fax
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Robert L. F. Clarke Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 by International.
2 Q. Oh.
3 A, So you send a payment for pension or for
4 health, I mean, I can record the payment was sent,
5 but I can't -- you know, there are times when
6 clearly International just didn't process the health
7 insurance, even though they received the check.
8 So there are those types of situations.
9 So what International does when they receive the
10 money, I have no oversight over that --
11 Q. Understood.
12 A, -- so it's listed like it, but that's not
13 really how it works.
14 Q. Okay. So once Local 1107 made a payment
15 to International, you had no further responsibility?
16 A. I had no -- I had no oversight or insight
17 into what they were doing at that point.
18 Q. Understood.
19 The second bullet point says, Maintain
20 staff personnel records, and it lists, you know,
21 different aspects of that.
22 So you were responsible for maintaining
23 personnel files for all the different employees of
24 the local?
25 A. Correct.
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC 129 Page: 49



Robert L. F. Clarke Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 Q. Okay. And who, if anybody, assisted you

2 in your human resources responsibilitiesg?

3 A. I believe it would have been Ken and, I

4 think, maybe Jennifer.

5 Q. Okay. Were you responsible for

6 discipline -- meting out discipline to employees at

7 the local, other than the ones in your direct line

8 of supervision?

9 A. You know, it would depend. I know that
10 there was a disciplinary hearing with one staff

11 member. I was there in my role as HR manager, but
12 that person's supervisor was the one, I think, you
13 know, leading the meeting, and I believe Cherie was
14 there, you know, as well.

15 So those conversations, that would take
16 place, though, yeah.

17 Q. Okay. And was there only one instance of
18 you sitting in on a disciplinary meeting for Local
19 1107 employees during the time you were --

20 A. No. There might have been -- there might
21 have been two of those instances.

22 Q. Okay. And those are separate from the

23 two instances you described earlier where you

24 recommended discipline for your own staff, correct?
25 A. No. I think there's one overlap.
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC T30 Page: 50



Robert L. F. Clarke Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 Q. Okay. Was that the universe of
2 disciplinary measures taken by the local during the
3 time you were the HR director, or were there other
4 instances of discipline that you just weren't a part
5 of?
6 A, I would have to really look at the
7 records to recall all of that. I haven't really
8 stored all of that, you know, for purposes of this
9 meeting. I'm trying to givé you the best that I can
10 recall.
11 I do believe there were definitely at
12 least, you know, one where the person was -- did not
13 report to me, that I can -- you know, that I can
14 recall, and at least a couple others that I
15 mentioned earlier.
16 And as I mentioned, one of those, I
17 believe, I don't think we actually moved forward on
18 it. It was also right -- the time frame was around
19 that same time frame where the trusteeship came in,
20 too.
21 I think there was conversation around
22 that, but if I had their records and reviewed it, it
23 would probably come back.
24 Q. Got it.
25 So there's two other headings on that
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LI.C 131 Page: 51
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Robert L. F. Clarke Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 second page, "Political Reporting and Office
2 Administration." Under Political Reporting, it has
3 one bullet point.
4 Does that accurately describe your
5 responsibility with respect to political reporting?
6 A. No, because that was, I think, mostly the
7 International that really did that --
8 Q. Okay.
9 A; -- s0 it's listed there, but I -- that's,
10 I think, an Internatioﬁal -- that was
11 International's --
12 Q. Okay. Got it.
13 And what about under Office
14 Administration? There's one bullet point.
15 Does that accurately describe your
16 responsibility with respect to office
17 administration?
18 A, That's relatively accurate, yeah.
19 Q. Okay. Did you have any role in the
20 negotiation of the staff union contract?
21 A. Yeah. From a budgetary standpoint, yeah.
22 Q. Okay. And describe what your role was.
23 A, Saying how much money we have and how
24 much we can spend.
25 Q. Okay. And who Were you advising
702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC 132 Page: 52



Robert L. F. Clarke Dana Gentry, et al. v. Service Employees International Union, et al.

1 regarding that aspect?
2 A. The advice would have been through
3 Cherie.
4 Q. Okay.
5 A, I mean, there could have been other
6 people in the room, but -- so --
7 Q. Okay. Other than providing Cherie advice
8 about what the union could afford with respect to
9 negotiations, did you have any other role in those
10 negotiations with the staff union?
11 A. No.
12 Q. Did you actually sit in on the
13 negotiations on the management side?
14 A. I -- T don't recall. I don't recall
15 that.
16 Q. Okay. What about policies?
17 Did you help develop any personnel
18 policies for staff?
19 A, No. I mean, conversations with Cherie --
20 like I Said, you know, all of my staff were dealing
21 directly with Cherie. So if we're having any
22 conversations about anything, it would be opinions,
23 advice. You know, that would be -- that would be
24 how I work with Cherie.
25 Q. During the time that you were there, did
702-476-4500 OASIS REPOilTING SERVICES, LLC 133 Page: 53
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Page 256
REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF NEVADA )
) Ss
COUNTY OF CLARK )

I, Wendy Sara Honable, CCR No. 875, a duly
certified court reporter licensed in and for the
State of Nevada, do hereby certify:

That I reported the taking of the deposition
of the witness, ROBERT L. F. CLARKE, at the time and
place aforesaid;

That prior to being examined, the witness was
by me duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth;

That I thereafter transcribed my shorthand
notes into typewriting and that the typewritten
transcript of said deposition is a complete, true
and accurate record of testimony provided by the
witness at said time to the best of my ability.

I further certify (1) that I am not a
relative, employee or independent contractor of
counsel of any of the parties; nor a relative,
employee or independent contractor of the parties
involved in said action; nor a person financially
interested in the action; nor do I have any other
relationship with any of the parties or with counsel
of any of the parties involved in the action that
may reasonably cause my impartiality to be
questioned; and (2) that transcript review pursuant
to NRCP 30(e) was requested.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
hand in the County of Clark, State of Nevadag?,k'
19th day of June 2019. Y .. o

]

LA P MSABAL
Wendy Sara Honable, CCR No.

WWw.oasisreporting.com OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC 11342-476-4500
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REPLY

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN
EVAN L. JAMES, ESQ. (7760)
7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89117
Telephone: (702) 255-1718
Facsimile: (702) 255-0871

Email: elj@cjmlv.com,

Electronically Filed

11/22/2019 3:00 PM

Steven D. Grierson
LERK OF THE COU

R b o

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue and Martin Manteca

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual; and
ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

SERVICE EMPLOYEES
INTERNATIONAL UNION, a nonprofit
cooperative corporation; LUISA BLUE, in
her official capacity as Trustee of Local
1107; MARTIN MANTECA, in his
official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
Local 1107; MARY K. HENRY, in her
official capacity as Union President;
SHARON KISLING, individually;
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC
EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION UNION
aka SEIU 1107, a non-profit cooperative
corporation; DOES 1-20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1-20, inclusive,

Defendants.

LUISA BLUE (“Blue”), MARTIN MANTECA (“Manteca”), and NEVADA
SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION (“Local 1107”), misnamed as “CLARK COUNTY
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION UNION aka SEIU 1107 (Luisa, Martin, and
Local 1107 are collectively referred to as “Local 1107 Defendants™), by and through the

law firm Christensen James & Martin, hereby reply to Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Motion

for Summary Judgment.
I
I

CASE NO.: A-17-764942-C

DEPT. No. XXVI

REPLY TO OPPOSITION TO
MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

HEARING REQUESTED

Case Number: A-17-764942-C
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DATED this 22nd day of November 2019.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:/s/ Evan L. James

Evan L. James, Esg. (7760)
7440 W. Sahara Avenue
Las Vegas, NV 89117
Telephone: (702) 255-1718
Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue

and Martin Manteca

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I
UNDISPUTED FACTS?!

Service Employees International Union’s (“SEIU”) constitution contains the
following pertinent language that undisputedly applies to Local 1107:

(a) Whenever the International President has reason to believe that,
in order to protect the interests of the membership, it is necessary to
appoint a Trustee for the purpose of correcting corruption or
financial malpractice, assuring the performance of collective
bargaining agreements or other duties of a bargaining
representative, restoring democratic procedures, or otherwise
carrying out the legitimate objects of this International Union, he or
she may appoint such Trustee to take charge and control of the
affairs of a Local Union or of an affiliated body and such
appointment shall have the effect of removing the officers of the
Local Union or affiliated body.

(b) The Trustee shall be authorized and empowered to take full
charge of the affairs of the Local Union or affiliated body and its
related benefit funds, to remove any of its employees, agents ... and
appoint such agents, employees ... and to take such other action as
in his or her judgment is necessary for the preservation of the Local

! To make locating cited facts easier, exhibits are contained in an Appendix pursuant to
Local Rule 2.27(b) and have been marked with Bates stamp numbers of “Appendix 001”
through “Appendix 248”. Citations to the documents in the Appendix include 1) the

document, 2) the location in that document and 3) the Appendix Bates number.

2
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Union or affiliated body and for the protection of the interests of the
membership.?

SEIU Const. Art. V11 88 7(a) & (b), App. 167.
i
LEGAL ANALYSIS & ARGUMENT

1. Plaintiffs’ prove the propriety of their employment termination because of a special

relationship with their President Mancini.

Plaintiffs assert, “Plaintiffs’ had a special relationship with L1107 via President
Mancini, who promised them continued employment with L1107 as evidenced by their
contracts.” See Opp’n at 29:2-3. Plaintiffs just summed up why their claims are
preempted, “a special relationship with” the removed union leader. She had their back
and they had hers, as evidenced by their conspiracy to overthrow the Trusteeship, calling
the Trustees’ actions toward Manci “repugnant and unjustified.” Plaintiffs even destroyed

evidence of their insubordination to the Trusteeship prior to their employment

termination:

Clarke: Be careful — Dana [Gentry] is using union phone to text — | spoke
with her so don’t text her about it.

Clarke: She transferred her personal phone to the union phone.

Clarke: If they get ahold of Dana [Gentry’s] texts then probably all of us on
the texts are OUT.

Nguyen: Tell her to delete them!

Nguyen: She probably needs to do a clean reset.

2 Gentry and Clarke’s argument that their special friend, former President Mancini,
unilaterally voided these SEIU constitutional provisions is a bit like arguing that a United
States President may unilaterally change provisions of the United States Constitution—a
proposition that we all should agree is wrong.
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Clarke: | told her — she doesn’t seem to quite understand...thinks that she
hasn’t said anything bad.

Clarke Depo. 119-121:1-5 (App. 089-91). Yes, there was a special relationship between
Plaintiffs and Mancini, a relationship strong enough to lead high ranking management
officials to destroy evidence and seek to thwart the Trustees’ governance of Local 1107.

2.  Plaintiffs’ arguments regarding the LMRDA’s state law saving clauses do not apply

because Plaintiffs are not union members nor are criminal acts at issue.

The savings clauses of the LMRDA do not apply to Plaintiffs.

Bloom first argues that his wrongful discharge action cannot be
preempted by the LMRDA because it is specifically “saved” from
preemption by the Act itself. He cites 29 U.S.C. 8§ 413, 523, and
524, which he asserts “save” his state claim. Sections 413 and
523(a), however, save causes of action enjoyed by union members,
and, as discussed above, Bloom is not bringing this action as a union
member but as a union employee. Just as he is not entitled to the
substantive protections of the LMRDA as an employee, so he cannot
enjoy its savings clauses. The remaining section, 29 U.S.C. § 524,
saves only state criminal laws and thus cannot directly save
appellant’s civil action.

Bloom v. General Truck Drivers, Office, Food & Warehouse Union, Local 952, 783 F.2d
1356, 1360 (9th Cir. 1986). Plaintiffs have never been members of Local 1107 nor is
criminal activity alleged in their First Amended Complaint. The LMRDA preemption
savings clauses cited by Plaintiffs do not apply.

3.  Plaintiffs’ elected union official argument fails because the need for effective union

governance is an independent reason for preempting Plaintiffs’ claims.

LMRDA preemption applies to ensure effective union governance in addition to
securing union democracy. English v. Service Employees International Union, Local 73,
2019 WL 4735400, at *4 (N.D.Ill., 2019). In English, like here, trustees were appointed

by SEIU over a local union, which was Local 73. The English court concluded the
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following in rejecting the elected vs. appointed argument now advanced by Gentry and
Clarke:

Thus, in enacting the LMRDA, “Congress decided that the harm that
may occasionally flow from union leadership’s ability to terminate
appointed employees is less than the harm that would occur in the
absence of this power,” Vought, 558, F.3d at 623, namely, the
organizational paralysis that would result from retaining employees
whose “‘views ... were not compatible [with those of management]
and thus would interfere with smooth application of the new
regime’s policy,” ” id. (quoting Hodge v. Drivers, Salesmen,
Warehousemen, Milk Processors, Cannery, Dairy Employees &
Helpers' Local Union 695, 707 F.2d 961, 964 (7th Cir. 1983)); see
Finnegan, 456 U.S. at 441-42. The courts have no power to “second-
guess that legislative judgment.” Vought, 558 F.3d at 623.

English at *4 (alterations in original). “‘[I]t was rank-and-file union members—not union
officers or employees, as such—whom Congress sought to protect’ Id. (quoting Vought,
558 F.3d at 621) (quoting Finnegan, 456 U.S. at 436-37, 438). See also, Vought v.
Wisconsin Teamsters Joint Council No. 39, 558 F.3d 617, 623 (7th Cir., 2009) (rejecting
the argument that Finnegan only applies if the union leader is elected.)

The English court’s member protection rationale is central to the Ninth Circuit
Court of Appeals’ application of the Finnegan case. “The federal interest in promoting
union democracy and the rights of union members, therefore, includes an interest in
allowing union leaders to discharge incumbent administrators.” Bloom v. General Truck
Drivers, Office, Food & Warehouse Union, Local 952, 783 F.2d 1356, 1362 (9th Cir.
1986) (emphasis added). This means that the LMRDA’s trusteeship and federal labor
policy preempt the Plaintiffs’ state law claims because “[t]he Act [LMRDA] seeks
uniformity in the regulation of employee, union and management relations [,...] ‘an
integral part of ensuring a union administration’s responsiveness....”” Tyra v. Kearney,
200 Cal.Rptr. 716, 720, 153 Cal.App.3d 921, 927 (Cal.App. 4 Dist. 1984)(conc. opn.
Crosby, A.J.). English, Bloom and Tyra all identify why Gentry and Clarkes’ elected vs.
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appointed argument fails; it is the “union administration’s responsiveness” t0 member
needs that is of critical concern in federal labor policy.

4, Federal preemption applies regardless of a union’s constitution.

Two lines of case law have evolved from the Finnegan case, 1) cases relying solely
on the LMRDA and 2) cases applying union constitutions. Neither English,® nor Vought,
considered the union’s constitution when applying LMRDA preemption. These cases
make clear that LMRDA preemption applies regardless of a union’s constitution.

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ assertions, Screen Extras Guild did not consider the union’s
constitution when applying LMRDA preemption. Rather, it merely noted the board of
directors was an elected body under the constitution. The court was not stating, as
Plaintiffs incorrectly assert, that the union’s constitution had to specifically address a
plaintiff’s job position before LMRDA preemption applies. In Bloom, and contrary to
Plaintiffs’ argument, the union’s constitution was not an issue associated with preemption
of the employment law claims. Rather, the constitution was a topic of discussion for union
membership rights. In Tyra, the union’s constitution is not even mentioned or discussed,
making Plaintiffs’ assertion that Tyra was premised upon consideration of the union’s
constitution patently false.

Cases relying upon a union’s constitution to defeat employment claims include
Dean and Pape. The Dean court discussed the union’s constitution as it related to Mr.

Dean’s position as a Business Agent and specifically found that “Dean’s argument that

% The English case did involve SEIU’s constitution but only in the context of freedom of
speech rights. The English court’s ruling on preemption of employment law claims was
made independent of any evidence regarding SEIU’s constitutional provisions. While
there is no record of the English court considering SEIU’s constitution in regard to
preemption of employment law claims, it is obvious that preemption applies because the
court reached its preemption decision with or without SEIU’s constitution. Thus, if
SEIU’s constitution required preemption in English, it certainly is going to require
preemption to this Litigation given that the same constitution is at issue.
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his employment contract does not include the provisions of the constitution and the
bylaws ignores the vital function that those provisions were intended to fulfill—that is,
the preservation of internal democracy and order.” Dean v. General Teamsters Union,
Local No. 406, 1989 WL 223013, at *6 (W.D.Mich. 1989). In short, the union’s
constitution in Dean served the same function as LMRDA preemption. Like the Dean
case, Plaintiffs’ contracts were subject to the international’s constitution that authorized
the Trustees to “remove any of [Local 1107’s] employees.” In Pape, the court relied upon
Dean and applied the union’s constitution that allowed an appointed trustee to remove an
employee. SEIU’s constitution also allows for the removal of employees. As such, Gentry
and Clarke’s claims, as a matter of federal labor policy applying union constitutions, are
preempted and not enforceable.

Either way, pursuant to SEIU’s constitution or directly by LMRDA, federal
preemption of Plaintiffs’ claims applies.

5. LMRDA preemption applies to any appointed employee who may thwart effective

union governance.

Plaintiffs’ reliance on “policy making employee” and “confidential employee”
language found in case law ignores congressional intent and federal labor policy that a
union employee, regardless of position, is not allowed to thwart effective union
governance. The Womack court noted that the United States Supreme Court intended
LMRDA preemption to apply to “administrators, policy-makers, and other
appointees.” Womack v. United Service Employees Union Local 616, 1999 WL 219738,
at *4 (N.D.Cal. 1999)(emphasis added). The Womack court also noted that the “Court
was not troubled by the effect this interpretation of LMRDA would have on the job
security of union appointees. Id. The Womack court then noted that the Screen Extras
Guild case applied to a “terminated management or policy-making employee” Id.
(emphasis added). It is undisputed that Gentry and Clarke were management employees

with substantial responsibilities. (Motion for Summ. J., Job Descriptions, App. 142-147.)
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Thus, Plaintiffs’ election to focus solely on two phrases from case law ignores the
purpose of the rulings and the reality of their management roles.

Plaintiffs’ effort to insert a “labor-nexus” into the LMRDA preemption doctrine is
found in no LMRDA preemption cases. Plaintiffs’ citation to cases such as N.L.R.B. v.
Hendricks County Rural Elec. Membership Corp., 454 U.S. 170 (1981)* ignores federal
labor policy applying the LMRDA. It also ignores that such cases address unfair labor
practices relating to bargaining rather than the LMRDA preemption fulcrum of effective
union governance.

6. Related tort claims.

Plaintiffs argue that the breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims
must survive because the Trustees did not act faithful. However, the Trustees were not
parties to the contracts nor were they at Local 1107 when the contracts were entered or
performed. As noted by the Plaintiffs, their employment contracts came from a special
relationship with Mancini and not the Trustees. The Trustees therefore, as a matter of
fact, could not have acted badly under the contracts, making a breach of the covenant of
good faith and fair dealing impossible.

Plaintiffs argue that Gentry’s threatening a defamation lawsuit is sufficient to save
the bad faith discharge and negligence claims. First, she never actually sued on the

defamation claim while employed at Local 1107,° so Plaintiffs’ argument fails because

4 Plaintiffs’ sophistic use of case law is highlighted in Shuck v. International Association
of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, District 837, 2017 WL 908188 (E.D.Mo. 2017).
Shuck, contrary to Plaintiffs’ selective use of language from the case, involved the
defendant’s effort to remove the case to federal court despite the plaintiff having alleged
wrongful termination for reporting illegal conduct; “Shuck's claims arise from allegedly
illegal misconduct under state law.” Id. at 2. The federal court refused removal and noted
that reporting illegal conduct is not preempted by the LMRDA.

® The defamation claim was first asserted in Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint filed

on March 25, 2019, almost two years after the Trustees were appointed on April 28, 2018.
See First Amended Complaint at 4:116.
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no legal right was exercised prior to employment termination. Second and as stated
above, the Trustees were not part of Local 1107 when Gentry made the litigation threat
in 2016. Gentry’s employment termination occurred on May 4, 2017, within days of the
Trustees’ appointment on April 28, 2017. Third, there also is no evidence that the
Trustees fired Gentry because of a litigation threat.

7. Gentry addressed two of the four argued defamation defenses—preemption and

internal business communications—and ignored required communications and

common interest privilege defenses.

Failure to address an argument is consent to that argument. “The nonmoving party
“‘is not entitled to build a case on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and
conjecture.”” Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 P.3d 1026, 1031, 121 Nev. 724, 732 (2005).

a. As to preemption, Gentry failed to show any evidence of malice necessary to

overcome summary judgment.

Gentry needed to show some evidence that Kisling acted with malice to
overcome federal preemption of her defamation claim. See Linn v. United Plant Guard
Workers of America, Local 114, 86 S.Ct. 657, 659, 383 U.S. 53, 55 (1966) (stating the
need to plead and prove malice to overcome federal preemption of defamation claims).
All evidence shows that Kisling reported information she had received from others. It
also shows that she reported the information as a “concern” and not as fact.

Contrary to Gentry’s assertion, Defendants have no burden to prove Kisling
made the statements believing them to be true. Rather it is Plaintiffs’ burden to provide
evidence that Kisling made the statements with malice. Gentry has provided no evidence.
I
I
I
I
I
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b. Gentry’s argument that the internal business communication privilege does not

apply—asserting that statements were published to SEIU representatives and

Local 1107 personnel—fails because SEIU has a common interest in Local

1107’s functions and no evidence regarding outside publication by Kisling

exists.’

Local 1107 and SEIU have to share internal business communications to adhere
to organizational documents. SEIU had and has an internal interest in the effective and
proper management of affiliated locals, including Local 1107. See SEIU Constitution
Art. XXI, App. 193 (setting forth a local’s duty to enforce the SEIU Constitution); SEIU
Const. Art. VII 88 7(a) & (b), App. 167 (setting forth the ability to appoint a trustee to
correct mismanagement of a local); and SEIU Const. Code of Ethics, App. 197 (stating
that “Corruption in all forms will not be tolerated.”) The only way SEIU will know of
issues relating to its constitution is by hearing about those issues from individuals
associated with local unions. Thus, Kisling’s communications to Local 1107 and SEIU
were internal.

In regard to the declarations of Peter Nguyen (unsigned) and Javier Cabrera,’
there is no evidence that Local 1107 or Kisling circulated the report. The supposed
defamatory statement of alcohol use originated from the staff and the credit card

verification purchases issue was part of the Finance Committee’s deliberations. Thus, the

® Gentry argued that Local 1107 and SEIU are alter egos. See Opposition to SEIU’s
Motion for Summary J. Although Local 1107 disputes that argument, if true, the SEIU
representatives and Local 1107 representatives are treated as one and the same. Gentry’s
conflicting arguments defeat one another.

" Peter Nguyen and Javier Cabrera are known haters of the Defendants, both having filed
lawsuits against the union and the Trusteeship, Nguyen v. SEIU, Case No. A-19-794662-
C in this Court, and Cabrera v. SEIU, Case No. 2:18-cv-00304 RFB in the United States
District Court for the District of Nevada. In fact, Nguyen is one of Gentry’s and Clarke’s
evidence destroying coconspirators.
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issues claimed as defamatory were clearly common knowledge among Local 1107
personnel.

c. Gentry did not oppose the argument that Kisling’s report to the Executive

Board was privileged as a required communication.

Gentry did not dispute that Kisling’s communications were required by law.
(See Motion at 19)(supported by U.S. v. International Broth. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,
Warehousemen and Helpers of America, AFL-CIO, 981 F.2d 1362 (2nd Cir. 1992) and
Cucinottav. Deloitte & Touche, L.L.P., 302 P.3d 1099, 1102, 129 Nev. 322, 326 (2013)).
Thus, there is no evidence disputing Kisling’s duty to disclose. Summary judgment is
proper.

d. Gentry did not oppose the argument that Kisling’s report to the Executive

Board was privileged as a common interest communication.

Had Gentry addressed the common interest privilege, she could not have argued
that Kisling’s report was improperly disclosed to SEIU representatives. As shown above,
Local 1107 and SEIU both have a common interest in the proper and effective
management of Local 1107. Summary judgment in favor of Local 1107 is proper.

CONCLUSION
Summary judgment in favor of the Local 1107 Defendants is proper.

Dated this 22nd day of November 2019.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:__ /s/Evan L. James

Evan L. James, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 7760

7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Telephone: (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue and
Martin Manteca, Local Counsel for SEIU
International
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| am an employee of Christensen James & Martin and caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing document to be served in the following manner on the date it was
filed with the Court:

v ELECTRONIC SERVICE: Pursuant to Rule 8.05 of the Rules of Practice for the

Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, the document was electronically
served on all parties registered in the case through the E-Filing System.

Michael Macavoyamaya: mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail.com

Jonathan Cohen: jcohen@rsglabor.com

Glenn Rothner: grothner@rsglabor.com

UNITED STATES MAIL: By depositing a true and correct copy of the above-

referenced document into the United States Mail with prepaid first-class postage,
addressed as follows:

FACSIMILE: By sending the above-referenced document via facsimile as
follows:

EMAIL.: By sending the above-referenced document to the following:

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:__ /s/ Natalie Saville
Natalie Saville
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Electronically Filed
1/3/2020 8:56 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
ORD _

ROTHNER, SEGALL & GREENSTONE
Glenn Rothner (Pro hac vice)

Jonathan Cohen (10551)

Maria Keegan Myers (12049)

510 South Marengo Avenue

Pasadena, California 91101-3115
Telephone:  (626) 796-7555

Fax: (626) 577-0124

E-mail: jcohen@rsglabor.com

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN
Evan L. James (7760)

7440 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Telephone:  (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Service Employees International Union
and Mary Kay Henry

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual; and Case No.: A-17-764942-C
ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,
Dept. 26
Plaintiffs,
Vs. ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY

JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL DEFENDANTS

UNION. a nonprofit cooperative corporation;
LUISA BLUE, in her official capacity as
Trustee of Local 1107, MARTIN MANTECA,
in his official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
Local 1107; MARY K. HENRY, in her official
capacity as Union President; SHARON
KISLING, individually; CLARK COUNTY
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION
UNION aka SEIU 1107, a non-profit
cooperative corporation; DOES 1-20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1-20, inclusive,

Defendants.
] Voluntary Dismissal [ summary Judgment
] involuntary Dismissal I stipuleied Judgment
] stinulated Dismissal [ Default Judgment
otion to Dismiss by Defi{s} [ sudegment of Arbitration
1
Case No. A-17-764942-C 1147

Case Number: A-17-764942-C



w

~N N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

On December 3, 2019, at 9:30 a.m., in the above-titled courtroom, the Court heard
argument concerning the motion for summary judgment of defendants Service Employees
International Union (“SEIU”) and Mary Kay Henry (“Henry”); the motion for summary
judgment of defendants Nevada Service Employees Union, Local 1107 (misnamed “Clark
County Public Employees Association Union aka SEIU 1107) (“Local 1107”), Luisa Blue and
Martin Manteca; and the motion for partial summary judgment of plaintiffs Dana Gentry
(“Gentry”) and Robert Clarke (“Clarke”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). Jonathan Cohen appeared
on behalf of SEIU and Henry. Evan L. James appeared on behalf of Local 1107, Blue and
Manteca. Michael J. McAvoyamaya appeared on behalf of Gentry and Clarke.

The Court, based on the pleadings and papers in the record, and having considered
counsel’s oral arguments, hereby grants summary judgment in favor of all defendants on all
claims in the first amended complaint (“FAC”), and denies Plaintiffs’ motion for partial
summary judgment.

I. Preemption Under the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act

The Court finds that all of the claims in the FAC are preempted by the Labor
Management Reporting and Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C. 401, et seq. (“LMRDA”).

“When Congress does not include statutory language expressly preempting state law,
Congress’s intent to preempt state law nonetheless may be implied . . . .” Nanopierce Techs.,
Inc. v. Depository Trust and Clearing Corp., 123 Nev. 362, 371 (2007). For example,
“Congress’s intent to preempt state law is implied to the extent that federal law actually conflicts
with any state law.” Id. Conflict preemption requires a court to determine whether, “in light of
the federal statute’s purpose and intended effects, state law poses an obstacle to the
accomplishment of Congress’s objectives.” /d. at 372.

Such a conflict is presented here. The LMRDA is a comprehensive federal statute that
regulates the internal affairs of unions. See 29 U.S.C. § 401, et seq. In Finnegan v. Leu, 456
U.S. 431 (1982), the U.S. Supreme Court, construing Title [ of the LMRDA, observed that the
statute “does not restrict the freedom of an elected union leader to choose a staff whose views are
compatible with his own.” Id. at 441. As the Court emphasized,

2
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Indeed, neither the language nor the legislative history of the [LMRDA] suggests that it
was intended even to address the issue of union patronage. To the contrary, the
[LMRDA’s] overriding objective was to ensure that unions would be democratically
governed, and responsive to the will of the union membership as expressed in open,
periodic elections. Far from being inconsistent with this purpose, the ability of an elected
union president to select his own administrators is an integral part of ensuring a union
administration’s responsiveness to the mandate of the union election.

Id. (internal citation omitted).

Relying on Finnegan, in Screen Extras Guild, Inc. v. Superior Court, 51 Cal.3d 1017
(1990), the California Supreme Court held that conflict preemption barred the plaintiff’s claims
against her former employer, a labor union, for wrongful discharge in breach of an employment
contract, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, and defamation, and directed
the trial court to enter judgment in favor of defendants. See id. at 1024-33. The court held that
“to allow [wrongful discharge] actions to be brought by former confidential or policymaking
employees of labor unions would be inconsistent with the objectives of the LMRDA and with the
strong federal policy favoring union democracy that it embodies.” /d. at 1024. The court
reasoned that “[e]lected union officials must necessarily rely on their appointed representatives
to carry out their programs and policies. As a result, courts have recognized that the ability of
elected union officials to select their own administrators is an integral part of ensuring that
administrations are responsive to the will of union members.” Id. at 1024-25. Thus, “allowing
[wrongful discharge claims] to proceed in the California courts would restrict the exercise of the
right to terminate which Finnegan found [to be] an integral part of ensuring a union
administration’s responsiveness to the mandate of the union election.” /d. at 1028 (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted).

Because this is an issue of first impression in Nevada, the Court looks to Screen Extras
Guild as persuasive authority and applies it here. See Whitemaine v. Aniskovich, 124 Nev. 302,
311 (2008) (“As this is an issue of first impression in Nevada, we look to persuasive authority for
guidance.”). The decision is particularly persuasive given that several other jurisdictions have

3
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adopted its holding.! See, e.g., Packowski v. United Food & Commercial Workers Local 951,
796 N.W.2d 94, 100 (Mich. Ct. App. 2010); Vitullo v. Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Local 206, 75
P.3d 1250, 1256 (Mont. Sup. Ct. 2003); Dzwonar v. McDevitt, 791 A.2d 1020, 1024 (N.J. App.
Div. 2002), aff'd on other grounds, 828 A.2d 893 (N.J. Sup. Ct. 2003); Young v. Int’l Bhd. of
Locomotive Eng’rs, 683 N.E.2d 420 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996).

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs are policymaking
and/or confidential staff whose claims are preempted under the LMRDA. Notably, Plaintiffs
have described themselves in briefs to this Court as former managers at Local 1107.2 See Screen
Extras Guild, 51 Cal.3d at 1028 (concluding that “Congress intends that elected union officials
shall be free to discharge management or policymaking personnel.”); see id. at 1031 (“Smith
herself acknowledges . . . she was considered a management employee.”). The evidence of
Plaintiffs’ former job duties and responsibilities reinforces that conclusion, establishing that they
each had significant responsibility for developing and implementing union policy in a wide range
of matters. See id. at 1031. The evidence also establishes that Plaintiffs had access to sensitive
confidential materials regarding the internal affairs of Local 1107. See id. at 1029 (noting that
“confidential staff are in a position to thwart the implementation of policies and programs” at a
union); Thunderburk v. United Food and Commercial Workers’ Union, 92 Cal. App. 4th 1332,

1343 (2001) (holding that secretary was confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan

! Plaintiffs argue that Screen Extras Guild does not apply here because the Local 1107 Trustees
who terminated their employment were not elected to their positions, but instead appointed
pursuant to SEIU’s emergency trusteeship order. The Court disagrees. Several courts have
concluded that the holding of Finnegan applies equally to appointed union leaders. See Vought
v. Wisconsin Teamsters Joint Council No. 39, 558 F.3d 617, 622-23 (8th Cir. 2009); English v.
Service Employees Int’l Union, Local 73, Case No. 18-c-5272, 2019 WL 4735400, *3-*4 (N.D.
I11. Sep. 27, 2019); Dean v. General Teamsters Union, Local Union No. 406, Case No. G87-286-
CA7, 1989 WL 223013, *5 (W.D. Mich. Sept. 18, 1989).

2 See Plaintiffs” Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed 9/26/18, at 11:19-20 (“It cannot be
disputed that Ms. Gentry and Mr. Clarke were hired o their management positions with Local
1107 by former Local 1107 President Cherie Mancini.”) (emphasis added); see also id. at 11:21
(stating that Plaintiffs were “management employees that were not covered by” staff union
collective bargaining agreement) (emphasis added); Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment, filed 11/1/18, at 18:8 (admitting that Plaintiffs were “management
employees that answered to [the union’s former Eresident].”) (emphasis added).
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where she “had access to confidential union information, which, if disclosed, could have
thwarted union policies and objectives™); Hodge v. Drivers, Salesmen, Warehousemen, Milk
Processors, Cannery, Dairy Employees & Helpers Local Union 695, 707 F.2d 961, 964 (7th Cir.
1983) (holding that secretary was confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan where she
had “wide-ranging . . . access to sensitive material concerning vital union matters”).

1I. Preemption of Plaintiff Gentry’s Defamation Claim

In addition to grounds cited above, plaintiff Gentry’s defamation claim against Local
1107 is preempted because it interferes with the internal management of Local 1107. “Federal
labor law preempts state defamation law when applied in ways that interfere with the internal
management of union.” Sullivan v. Conway, 157 F.3d 1092, 1099 (7th Cir. 1998).

Local 1107’s Executive Board had a duty to address the concerns of former Local 1107
Executive Vice-President Sharon Kisling, who raised her concerns about the internal
management of Local 1107 during a closed session Executive Board meeting. The union then
enlisted its attorney to investigate Kisling’s concerns. Local 1107 and its officers were required
to receive and investigate Kisling’s concerns, and they did so without subjecting themselves to
liability for defamation. See id. at 1099.

I1I. Liability of SEIU and Henry.

In addition to the grounds described above, the Court finds and concludes that SEIU and
Henry are not liable for any of the claims in the FAC because Plaintiffs did not have any
employment contract with SEIU or Henry, and because Plaintiffs were not employed by SEIU
and Henry. In the absence of any contractual or employment relationship between them and
SEIU or Henry, Plaintiffs have failed to establish any basis for the claims against SEIU or Henry
in the FAC. Additionally, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs have failed to raise a
genuine issue of material fact regarding their claim against SEIU and Henry for intentional
interference with contract.
/11
/11
117
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Based on the foregoing, the Court grants summary judgment in favor of defendants
Service Employees International Union, Mary Kay Henry, Nevada Service Employees Union,
Local 1107, Luisa Blue, Martin Manteca, and Sharon Kisling, on all claims in the first amended
complaint, and denies Plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: ¢ c L~ b ,Q[j Q_o)'O / 7 EIGTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT -

{ H6N6RABLE%GR|,19RJA J. STURMAN
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

Submitted By:
CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By 5 ~ ZS
EVAN JAMES

Attorneys for Service Employees International Union,
Local 1107, Martin Manteca
and Luisa Blue

ROTHNER, SEGALL & GREENSTONE

S (el

JON COHEN
Atto for Service Employees International Union
and Mary Kay Henry '

|| Reviewed By:

MICHAEL J. MCAVOYAMAYA
Attorney for Dana Gentry and Robert Clarke
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Facsimile: (702) 255-0871

Email: elj@cjmlv.com,

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue and Martin Manteca

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual; and CASE NO.: A-17-764942-C
ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,
Plaintiffs. DEPT. No. XXVI
VS.

SERVICE EMPLOYEES NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
INTERNATIONAL UNION, a nonprofit
cooperative corporation; LUISA BLUE, in
her official capacity as Trustee of Local
1107; MARTIN MANTECA, in his
official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
Local 1107; MARY K. HENRY, in her
official capacity as Union President;
SHARON KISLING, individually;
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC
EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION UNION
aka SEIU 1107, a non-profit cooperative
corporation; DOES 1-20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1-20, inclusive,

Defendants.

Please take notice that the attached Order Granting Summary Judgment in Favor
of Defendants was entered on January 3, 2020.
DATED this 3rd day of January 2020.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:/s/ Evan L. James

Evan L. James, Esq. (7760)
Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue
and Martin Manteca
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| am an employee of Christensen James & Martin and caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing document to be served on January 3, 2020 upon the following:

Michael Macavoyamaya: mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail.com

Jonathan Cohen: jcohen@rsglabor.com
Glenn Rothner: grothner@rsglabor.com
Evan L. James: elj@cjmlv.com

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:__ /s/ Natalie Saville
Natalie Saville
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Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
ORD _

ROTHNER, SEGALL & GREENSTONE
Glenn Rothner (Pro hac vice)

Jonathan Cohen (10551)

Maria Keegan Myers (12049)

510 South Marengo Avenue

Pasadena, California 91101-3115
Telephone:  (626) 796-7555

Fax: (626) 577-0124

E-mail: jcohen@rsglabor.com

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN
Evan L. James (7760)

7440 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Telephone:  (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Service Employees International Union
and Mary Kay Henry

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual; and Case No.: A-17-764942-C
ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,
Dept. 26
Plaintiffs,
Vs. ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY

JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL DEFENDANTS

UNION. a nonprofit cooperative corporation;
LUISA BLUE, in her official capacity as
Trustee of Local 1107, MARTIN MANTECA,
in his official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
Local 1107; MARY K. HENRY, in her official
capacity as Union President; SHARON
KISLING, individually; CLARK COUNTY
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION
UNION aka SEIU 1107, a non-profit
cooperative corporation; DOES 1-20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1-20, inclusive,

Defendants.
] Voluntary Dismissal [ summary Judgment
] involuntary Dismissal I stipuleied Judgment
] stinulated Dismissal [ Default Judgment
otion to Dismiss by Defi{s} [ sudegment of Arbitration
1
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On December 3, 2019, at 9:30 a.m., in the above-titled courtroom, the Court heard
argument concerning the motion for summary judgment of defendants Service Employees
International Union (“SEIU”) and Mary Kay Henry (“Henry”); the motion for summary
judgment of defendants Nevada Service Employees Union, Local 1107 (misnamed “Clark
County Public Employees Association Union aka SEIU 1107) (“Local 1107”), Luisa Blue and
Martin Manteca; and the motion for partial summary judgment of plaintiffs Dana Gentry
(“Gentry”) and Robert Clarke (“Clarke”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). Jonathan Cohen appeared
on behalf of SEIU and Henry. Evan L. James appeared on behalf of Local 1107, Blue and
Manteca. Michael J. McAvoyamaya appeared on behalf of Gentry and Clarke.

The Court, based on the pleadings and papers in the record, and having considered
counsel’s oral arguments, hereby grants summary judgment in favor of all defendants on all
claims in the first amended complaint (“FAC”), and denies Plaintiffs’ motion for partial
summary judgment.

I. Preemption Under the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act

The Court finds that all of the claims in the FAC are preempted by the Labor
Management Reporting and Disclosure Act, 29 U.S.C. 401, et seq. (“LMRDA”).

“When Congress does not include statutory language expressly preempting state law,
Congress’s intent to preempt state law nonetheless may be implied . . . .” Nanopierce Techs.,
Inc. v. Depository Trust and Clearing Corp., 123 Nev. 362, 371 (2007). For example,
“Congress’s intent to preempt state law is implied to the extent that federal law actually conflicts
with any state law.” Id. Conflict preemption requires a court to determine whether, “in light of
the federal statute’s purpose and intended effects, state law poses an obstacle to the
accomplishment of Congress’s objectives.” /d. at 372.

Such a conflict is presented here. The LMRDA is a comprehensive federal statute that
regulates the internal affairs of unions. See 29 U.S.C. § 401, et seq. In Finnegan v. Leu, 456
U.S. 431 (1982), the U.S. Supreme Court, construing Title [ of the LMRDA, observed that the
statute “does not restrict the freedom of an elected union leader to choose a staff whose views are
compatible with his own.” Id. at 441. As the Court emphasized,

2
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Indeed, neither the language nor the legislative history of the [LMRDA] suggests that it
was intended even to address the issue of union patronage. To the contrary, the
[LMRDA’s] overriding objective was to ensure that unions would be democratically
governed, and responsive to the will of the union membership as expressed in open,
periodic elections. Far from being inconsistent with this purpose, the ability of an elected
union president to select his own administrators is an integral part of ensuring a union
administration’s responsiveness to the mandate of the union election.

Id. (internal citation omitted).

Relying on Finnegan, in Screen Extras Guild, Inc. v. Superior Court, 51 Cal.3d 1017
(1990), the California Supreme Court held that conflict preemption barred the plaintiff’s claims
against her former employer, a labor union, for wrongful discharge in breach of an employment
contract, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, and defamation, and directed
the trial court to enter judgment in favor of defendants. See id. at 1024-33. The court held that
“to allow [wrongful discharge] actions to be brought by former confidential or policymaking
employees of labor unions would be inconsistent with the objectives of the LMRDA and with the
strong federal policy favoring union democracy that it embodies.” /d. at 1024. The court
reasoned that “[e]lected union officials must necessarily rely on their appointed representatives
to carry out their programs and policies. As a result, courts have recognized that the ability of
elected union officials to select their own administrators is an integral part of ensuring that
administrations are responsive to the will of union members.” Id. at 1024-25. Thus, “allowing
[wrongful discharge claims] to proceed in the California courts would restrict the exercise of the
right to terminate which Finnegan found [to be] an integral part of ensuring a union
administration’s responsiveness to the mandate of the union election.” /d. at 1028 (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted).

Because this is an issue of first impression in Nevada, the Court looks to Screen Extras
Guild as persuasive authority and applies it here. See Whitemaine v. Aniskovich, 124 Nev. 302,
311 (2008) (“As this is an issue of first impression in Nevada, we look to persuasive authority for
guidance.”). The decision is particularly persuasive given that several other jurisdictions have

3
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adopted its holding.! See, e.g., Packowski v. United Food & Commercial Workers Local 951,
796 N.W.2d 94, 100 (Mich. Ct. App. 2010); Vitullo v. Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Local 206, 75
P.3d 1250, 1256 (Mont. Sup. Ct. 2003); Dzwonar v. McDevitt, 791 A.2d 1020, 1024 (N.J. App.
Div. 2002), aff'd on other grounds, 828 A.2d 893 (N.J. Sup. Ct. 2003); Young v. Int’l Bhd. of
Locomotive Eng’rs, 683 N.E.2d 420 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996).

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs are policymaking
and/or confidential staff whose claims are preempted under the LMRDA. Notably, Plaintiffs
have described themselves in briefs to this Court as former managers at Local 1107.2 See Screen
Extras Guild, 51 Cal.3d at 1028 (concluding that “Congress intends that elected union officials
shall be free to discharge management or policymaking personnel.”); see id. at 1031 (“Smith
herself acknowledges . . . she was considered a management employee.”). The evidence of
Plaintiffs’ former job duties and responsibilities reinforces that conclusion, establishing that they
each had significant responsibility for developing and implementing union policy in a wide range
of matters. See id. at 1031. The evidence also establishes that Plaintiffs had access to sensitive
confidential materials regarding the internal affairs of Local 1107. See id. at 1029 (noting that
“confidential staff are in a position to thwart the implementation of policies and programs” at a
union); Thunderburk v. United Food and Commercial Workers’ Union, 92 Cal. App. 4th 1332,

1343 (2001) (holding that secretary was confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan

! Plaintiffs argue that Screen Extras Guild does not apply here because the Local 1107 Trustees
who terminated their employment were not elected to their positions, but instead appointed
pursuant to SEIU’s emergency trusteeship order. The Court disagrees. Several courts have
concluded that the holding of Finnegan applies equally to appointed union leaders. See Vought
v. Wisconsin Teamsters Joint Council No. 39, 558 F.3d 617, 622-23 (8th Cir. 2009); English v.
Service Employees Int’l Union, Local 73, Case No. 18-c-5272, 2019 WL 4735400, *3-*4 (N.D.
I11. Sep. 27, 2019); Dean v. General Teamsters Union, Local Union No. 406, Case No. G87-286-
CA7, 1989 WL 223013, *5 (W.D. Mich. Sept. 18, 1989).

2 See Plaintiffs” Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed 9/26/18, at 11:19-20 (“It cannot be
disputed that Ms. Gentry and Mr. Clarke were hired o their management positions with Local
1107 by former Local 1107 President Cherie Mancini.”) (emphasis added); see also id. at 11:21
(stating that Plaintiffs were “management employees that were not covered by” staff union
collective bargaining agreement) (emphasis added); Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment, filed 11/1/18, at 18:8 (admitting that Plaintiffs were “management
employees that answered to [the union’s former Eresident].”) (emphasis added).
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where she “had access to confidential union information, which, if disclosed, could have
thwarted union policies and objectives™); Hodge v. Drivers, Salesmen, Warehousemen, Milk
Processors, Cannery, Dairy Employees & Helpers Local Union 695, 707 F.2d 961, 964 (7th Cir.
1983) (holding that secretary was confidential employee within meaning of Finnegan where she
had “wide-ranging . . . access to sensitive material concerning vital union matters”).

1I. Preemption of Plaintiff Gentry’s Defamation Claim

In addition to grounds cited above, plaintiff Gentry’s defamation claim against Local
1107 is preempted because it interferes with the internal management of Local 1107. “Federal
labor law preempts state defamation law when applied in ways that interfere with the internal
management of union.” Sullivan v. Conway, 157 F.3d 1092, 1099 (7th Cir. 1998).

Local 1107’s Executive Board had a duty to address the concerns of former Local 1107
Executive Vice-President Sharon Kisling, who raised her concerns about the internal
management of Local 1107 during a closed session Executive Board meeting. The union then
enlisted its attorney to investigate Kisling’s concerns. Local 1107 and its officers were required
to receive and investigate Kisling’s concerns, and they did so without subjecting themselves to
liability for defamation. See id. at 1099.

I1I. Liability of SEIU and Henry.

In addition to the grounds described above, the Court finds and concludes that SEIU and
Henry are not liable for any of the claims in the FAC because Plaintiffs did not have any
employment contract with SEIU or Henry, and because Plaintiffs were not employed by SEIU
and Henry. In the absence of any contractual or employment relationship between them and
SEIU or Henry, Plaintiffs have failed to establish any basis for the claims against SEIU or Henry
in the FAC. Additionally, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs have failed to raise a
genuine issue of material fact regarding their claim against SEIU and Henry for intentional
interference with contract.
/11
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Based on the foregoing, the Court grants summary judgment in favor of defendants
Service Employees International Union, Mary Kay Henry, Nevada Service Employees Union,
Local 1107, Luisa Blue, Martin Manteca, and Sharon Kisling, on all claims in the first amended
complaint, and denies Plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: ¢ c L~ b ,Q[j Q_o)'O / 7 EIGTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT -

{ H6N6RABLE%GR|,19RJA J. STURMAN
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

Submitted By:
CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By 5 ~ ZS
EVAN JAMES

Attorneys for Service Employees International Union,
Local 1107, Martin Manteca
and Luisa Blue

ROTHNER, SEGALL & GREENSTONE

S (el

JON COHEN
Atto for Service Employees International Union
and Mary Kay Henry '

|| Reviewed By:

MICHAEL J. MCAVOYAMAYA
Attorney for Dana Gentry and Robert Clarke
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CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

EVAN L. JAMES, ESQ. (7760)

7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Telephone: (702) 255-1718

Facsimile: (702) 255-0871

Email: elj@cjmlv.com,

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue and Martin Manteca

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

DANA GENTRY, an individual; and CASE NO.: A-17-764942-C
ROBERT CLARKE, an individual,
Plaintiffs, DEPT. No. XXVI
VS.

SERVICE EMPLOYEES MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES

INTERNATIONAL UNION, a nonprofit | AND AWARD OF COSTS
cooperative corporation; LUISA BLUE, in
her official capacity as Trustee of Local
1107; MARTIN MANTECA, in his
official capacity as Deputy Trustee of
Local 1107; MARY K. HENRY, in her
official capacity as Union President; HEARING REQUESTED
SHARON KISLING, individually;
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC
EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION UNION
aka SEIU 1107, a non-profit cooperative
corporation; DOES 1-20; and ROE
CORPORATIONS 1-20, inclusive,

Defendants.

LUISA BLUE (“Blue”), MARTIN MANTECA (“Manteca”), and NEVADA
SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION (“Local 1107”), misnamed as “CLARK COUNTY
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION UNION aka SEIU 1107” (Luisa, Martin, and
Local 1107 are collectively referred to as “Local 1107 Defendants™), by and through the
law firm Christensen James & Martin, hereby move for legal fees and costs.!

1

1 The costs claim is before the Court on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Retax Costs and is
therefore not discussed in this motion.

1161

Case Number: A-17-764942-C




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

N T N R N N T N T T N R S e e N N N T =
N~ o 0o A ®W N kP O © 0 N oo o N~ W N Pk O

DATED this 14th day of January 2020.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:/s/ Evan L. James

Evan L. James, Esq. (7760)

7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Telephone: (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue
and Martin Manteca

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I
FACTS

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on November 20, 2017. Ten months later, Plaintiffs
filed a motion for summary judgment on September 26, 2018. Defendants opposed
Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment and filed a counter motion for summary
judgment on October 15, 2018. Defendants argued that Plaintiffs’ claim are preempted
by federal labor law, citing a substantial volume of case law supporting the preemption
argument. However, some exceptions, such as allegations of criminal conduct, exist to
the preemptive power of federal labor law. The Court denied the motions for summary
judgment and allowed the Defendants an opportunity to develop more facts through
additional discovery.

The initial discovery completion date was April 15, 2019. See Scheduling Order
entered October 10, 2018 at 1 5. To accommodate for further discovery, the parties
stipulated to extend the discovery completion date to July 15, 2019. See Stipulation and
Order entered March 28, 2019 at 3 In. 4. The undersigned was involved in a serious
cycling accident in mid-June 2019, so despite discovery being almost closed, the parties
further stipulated to extend discovery to August 15, 2019. See Scheduling Order entered
June 28, 2019 at In. 15.
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On July 16, 2017, Defendants issued an apportioned offer of judgment to each of
the Plaintiffs. Each Plaintiff was offered $30,000.00. See Ex. A attached hereto. Prior to
issuing the offer of judgment, the undersigned met with Plaintiffs’ counsel to inform him
that the offer of judgment issuance was imminent. | explained that no new facts had been
or would be developed in the case and that accepting the offer of judgment would be
prudent given the preemption case law. Plaintiffs’ counsel refused the idea of anything
other than full payment of Plaintiffs’ claims. See Declaration of Evan James.

Plaintiffs valued their claims by employing an expert. The expert valued Ms.
Gentry’s claims at $107,391.00. See Ex. B. The expert valued Mr. Clarke’s claims at
$92,305.00. See Ex. C.?

The Court entered summary judgment in favor of the Defendants on Friday,
January 3, 2020. Post offer of Judgment fees, incurred since July 16, 2019 through
December 31, 2019 amount to $56,277.00. See Ex. D. The Local 1107 Defendants filed
a Verified Memorandum of Costs on Monday, January 6, 2020.

i
LEGAL ANALYSIS & ARGUMENT

A. Leqal fees are allowed pursuant Nevada law.

“The purpose of NRS 17.115 and NRCP 68 is to save time and money for the court
system, the parties and the taxpayers. They reward a party who makes a reasonable offer
and punish the party who refuses to accept such an offer. Dillard Dept. Stores, Inc. v.
Beckwith, 115 Nev. 372, 382, 989 P.2d 882, 888 (1999). However, “the decision to award
attorney fees rests within the district court’s discretion....” O’Connell v. Wynn Las Vegas,

LLC, 134 Nev. 550, 554, 429 P.3d 664, 668 (Nev.App., 2018).

2 The expert’s reports were subject to challenge had the case proceeded to trial. For
example, Gentry was awarded an auto allowance of $6,000.00. However, that allowance
was not a benefit and was for vehicle use reimbursement. Since Gentry did not use her
vehicle for Local 1107 after employment termination, she was not eligible to receive the
reimbursement.
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In considering whether to award attorney fees for either a plaintiff or defendant the

court must consider the following four Beattie factors:

(1) whether the plaintiff’s claim was brought in good faith; (2) whether the
defendants’ offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its
timing and amount; (3) whether the plaintiff’s decision to reject the offer
and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4)
whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in
amount.

Id., quoting Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983).

Each factor need not favor awarding attorney fees because “no one factor
under Beattie is determinative.” Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult, 114
Nev. 233,252 n. 16, 955 P.2d 661, 673 n. 16 (1998). Instead, a district court
is to consider and balance the factors in determining the reasonableness of
an attorney fees award.

“[E]xplicit findings on every Beattie factor [are not] required for the district
court to adequately exercise its discretion.” Certified Fire Prot., Inc. v.
Precision Constr., Inc., 128 Nev. ——, ——, 283 P.3d 250, 258 (2012).
Instead, the district court may adequately exercise its discretion if the parties
brief the application of the Beattie factors. See Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co.
v. Mercer, 111 Nev. 318, 324, 890 P.2d 785, 789 (1995)

Scott-Hopp v. Bassek, 2014 WL 859181, 5 (Nev., 2014).
1. Plaintiffs’ knowledge that their claims were subject to dismissal made
rejection of the offer of judgment unreasonable.

Plaintiffs failed to maintain the action in good faith because they unreasonably
rejected the offer of judgment. “Factors which go to reasonableness include whether the
offeree eventually recovered more than the rejected offer and whether the offeree’s
rejection unreasonably delayed the litigation with no hope of greater recovery.” Cormier
v. Manke, 108 Nev. 316, 318, 830 P.2d 1327, 1328 (1992). Plaintiffs obviously received
nothing when the Court entered summary judgment in favor of Defendants. In addition,
Plaintiffs knew in October 2018 that preemption was a valid defense argument capable

of defeating their claims. They were granted months of additional discovery to develop
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facts that would distinguish them from the plethora of case law across the United States
applying federal labor law preemption to claims just like theirs. By July 2019, Plaintiffs
had failed to establish any facts that would distinguish them from cases such as Screen
Extras Guild.

Indeed, all developed facts supported a finding that Plaintiffs were management
employees subject to dismissal without regard to their written contracts. Plaintiffs
admitted to being high level union employees appointed by the removed President
Mancini. Plaintiffs even argued in their summary judgment briefing of September 2019
that “Plaintiffs’ had a special relationship with L1107 via President Mancini, who
promised them continued employment with L1107 as evidenced by their contracts.” See
Plaintiffs’ Opp’n to L1107 Defendants Motion for Summ. J., filed November 12, 2019,
at 29:2-3. It is clear that Plaintiffs chose to ignore case facts and law that supported
Defendants’ preemption arguments based upon “Plaintiffs’ ... special relationship with
L1107 via President Mancini”. As a matter of fact, Plaintiffs’ did more than ignore case
law holding that special relationships such as theirs were preempted by federal labor law;
they admitted to the special relationship but then brazenly ignored their management
roles as Local 1107 “Directors” in arguing that they were not “confidential employees”
subject to the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (“LMRDA”). Id. at
26:23-24. Based upon the facts and law, it is clear that Plaintiffs assumed and maintained
an unreasonable position that they might recover more than the $60,000.00 offered by
the Defendants to resolve the litigation. The first Beattie factor weighs in favor of
awarding attorney fees and costs.

2. Defendants’ offer of judgment was made in good faith and at a reasonable
time because it was made 20 months after litigation started and nine
months after Plaintiffs knew their claims were subject to dismissal.

Defendants’ offer of judgment was made in good faith and at a reasonable time.

Offers of judgment made after parties have had an opportunity to evaluate their case and
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at least 10 days before trial are reasonable. See Scott-Hopp at 5. In Scott-Hopp, the court
noted that the offer of judgment was reasonable because it was made more than two years
after the plaintiff filed the lawsuit and 10 days before trial. Plaintiffs filed their Complaint
on November 20, 2017. The offer of judgment was issued twenty months later. Plaintiffs
also knew nine months before the offer of judgment was issued that their claims were
subject to a federal preemption defense. They had nine months to develop facts that
would defeat the federal preemption argument. They failed to do so. As such, the timing
of the offer of judgment was reasonable.

Defendants’ offer of judgment was also reasonable in amount. In Scott-Hopp, the
court concluded an offer of judgment for 16% of the claim amount to be reasonable
because liability was contested based upon the facts. The defendant in Scott-Hopp offered
$25,000.00 to settle $150,000.00 in medical claims. In our case, Defendants offered
Gentry 27.9% of her maximum claim. Defendants also offered Clarke 32.5% of his
maximum claim. Like Scott-Hopp, the Defendants offered the Plaintiffs substantial
money to resolve contested claims. In fact, Defendants’ offer of judgment exceeded the
Scott-Hopp offer in percent value. The value of Defendants’ offer of judgment in light of
the likelihood of their claims being preempted made the offer of judgment reasonable.
The second Beattie factor therefore weighs in favor of awarding attorney fees and costs.

3. Plaintiffs’ rejection of the offer of judgment was grossly unreasonable

because they ignored case facts that paralleled case law applying
preemption and they significantly misapplied case law that was obviously
not on point in a vain effort to avoid preemption.

Plaintiffs knew and ignored the facts and law. In Scott-Hopp, the court found it
grossly unreasonable to reject an offer of judgment when the offeree had access to key
facts and knew their claims were contested. Like Scott-Hopp, Plaintiffs knew the
applicable preemption facts and factors. Plaintiffs had at least nine months to develop

case facts before the offer of judgment was issued. With no facts developed, Plaintiffs
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knew or should have known when the offer of judgment was issued that they stood a
substantial likelihood of losing. Rather than accept Defendants’ offer of judgment,
Plaintiffs demanded full payment of their claimed damages. Such positions are grossly
unreasonable as identified by the Scott-Hopp court. The third Beattie factor weighs in
favor of awarding attorney fees and costs to Defendants.

4. Defendants’ fees are reasonable because they are well below the market
rate and Plaintiffs’ positions forced Defendants to spend substantial time
and effort in litigation.

Defense counsel had to perform substantial legal work due to Plaintiffs’ actions.
“In Nevada, ‘the method upon which a reasonable fee is determined is subject to the
discretion of the court,” which ‘is tempered only by reason and fairness.”” Shuette v.
Beazer Homes Holdings Corp., 121 Nev. 837, 864, 124 P.3d 530, 548-49 (2005) (quoting
University of Nevada v. Tarkanian, 110 Nev. 581, 594, 591, 879 P.2d 1180, 1188, 1186
(1994)). The Court uses the Lodestar approach to calculate a legal fee value award, which
“involves multiplying ‘the number of hours reasonably spent on the case by a reasonable
hourly rate.”” 1d. (quoting Herbst v. Humana Health Ins. of Nev., 105 Nev. 586, 590, 781
P.2d 762, 764 (1989). However, the Court must continue its analysis and enter findings
upon certain factors, “NAMELY, THE ADVOCATE’S professional qualities, the nature
of the litigation, the work performed, and the result.” Shuette, 865, 549. See also Brunzell
v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969).

a. The Professional Qualities of the Advocate.

Local 1107 Defendants’ counsel, Mr. James, is a partner in Christensen James &
Martin. He graduated from the J. Reuben Clark Law School at Brigham Young
University in 2001. He is a member of the Nevada State Bar (2001 Admission), the Utah
State Bar (2002 Admission), and the Washington State Bar (2012 Admission) and
thereby authorized to practice law in the respective state courts. He is also admitted to

practice before the Court of Federal Claims in Washington, D.C.; the Ninth Circuit Court
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of Appeals; and the United States District Courts of Nevada, Utah, Western District of
Washington and Eastern District of Washington. He directs and/or participates in appeals
or litigation cases before many of the listed courts. He also maintains an active
administrative law practice before Nevada state agencies such as the Employee
Management Relations Board, the Nevada Labor Commissioner, and the Nevada State
Contractors Board. He also practices before the National Labor Relations Board.

Mr. James’s legal experience includes prosecuting claims under the Employee
Retirement Income Securities Act (ERISA) on behalf of multiemployer health, welfare
and pension benefit trusts. He also acts as counsel for numerous joint apprenticeship-
training trust funds, joint labor management committees and certain union locals in
Nevada. In addition to his benefits, wage and hour, and labor practice, Mr. James advises
and defends employers on employment practices and discrimination claims. Mr. James
has authored many employment manuals and directed the implementation of employment
policies at a number of the premier homeowner associations in the Las Vegas Valley. Mr.
James’s experience is not limited to labor and employment law issues. He maintains a
vibrant civil litigation practice that includes business litigation and property
encumbrance issues. For example, he was defense counsel for the construction defect
litigation for the McCarran Airport Parking Garage, defeated a contract claim in the
United States District Court for the District of Colorado arguing minimum contacts, and
recently completed litigating a property case involving third-party encumbrances in
excess of 40 million dollars that lasted for 12 years and wound its way through the state
and federal courts in Utah.

b.  The nature of the litigation.

The nature of the litigation was unusual. Plaintiffs’ lawsuit is one of the following
five lawsuits being prosecuted by Plaintiffs’ counsel against the Local 1107 Defendants:
1. Mancini v. SEIU International, et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-02137-APG-NJK;
2. Garciav. SEIU International, et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-01340-APG-NJK,
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3. Gentry v. SEIU International, et al., Case No. A-17-764942-C;

4. Cabrerav. SEIU International, et al., Case No.: 2:18-CV-00304-RFB-CWH

5. Nguyen v. SEIU International, et al., Case No. A-19-794662-C.

The nature of each case dealt with the imposition of a trusteeship by the Service
Employees International Union (“SEIU”) over Local 1107 and the appointment of Blue
and Manteca as the trustees. Plaintiffs and their counsel initiated a litigation barrage that
has required substantial effort to strategically evaluate, plan and implement case
strategies that are not present under a normal one case scenario. Even then, the
undersigned has just recently discovered that this litigation was used by Plaintiffs’
counsel to obtain discovery in the Cabrera litigation.

Of particular note, Cheri Mancini—to whom Plaintiffs’ tied their “special
relationship” claims as Local 1107’s former president—prosecuted the Mancini case

cited above and is also a plaintiff in the Cabrera case cited above. Plaintiffs and their

counsel had substantial and direct access to former President Mancini but failed

to produce even a declaration from her asserting facts supportive of an

exception to Defendants’ federal preemption argument. Implicit in that failure is a

knowledge that truthful testimony from former President Mancini would confirm the
facts upon which Defendants’ federal preemption argument is based. Therefore, it is
reasonable to accept that Plaintiffs knew early in the litigation that Defendants’
preemption argument was substantially supported by law and fact.

The litigation was also contentious, a review of the Court’s docket shows that the
following fifteen motions were filed:

1. Motion to Receive Service of Plaintiffs’ Documents by United States Mail;
Plaintiff’s First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment;
Counter Motion for Summary Judgment by Local 1107;

Counter Motion for Summary Judgment by SEIU;

a &~ D

Motion to Amend Complaint;
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6. Application for Default Judgment of Sharon Kisling;
7. Plaintiffs’ Request for Judicial Notice of NLRB Decision in Javier Cabrera
v. SEIU Local 1107, Case 28-CA -209109;

8. Motion to Associate Counsel;

9. Motion to Determine Attorney-Client Privilege;

10. Motion to Compel;

11. Plaintiffs’ Second Motion for Partial Summary Judgment;

12. Motion for Summary Judgment by Local 1107;

13. Motion for Summary Judgment by SEIU; and

14. Motion to Coordinate Cases;

15. Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs.

Plaintiffs’ asserted substantial case law in each motion that had to be reviewed,
analyzed, and synthesized to case facts. Plaintiffs asserted dicta as holdings and argued
cases were applicable when they were clearly distinguishable. Plaintiffs’ positions and
arguments required substantial time and effort from Defense Counsel to ensure the
propriety of case law holdings.

C. The work performed.

As just shown, Plaintiffs required Defendants to perform a substantial amount of
work. Fifteen motions on a breach of contract claim is substantial. These fifteen motions
required Local 1107 to prepare and submit at least 15 briefs to the Court. In addition,
most of the motions required substantial review and analysis of material. For example,
Plaintiffs’ Partial Motion for Summary Judgment filed on October 13, 2019 consisted of
1309 pages of material. In an effort to make Plaintiffs’ momentous filing a reasonable
size for Court review, Local 1107 Defendants distilled the motion down to a 24 page

Opposition Brief, including exhibits.
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Defense counsel also appeared before this Court 8 times as of December 31, 2019.
Each appearance requires preparation time so as to be able to answer the Court’s
questions and responses to Plaintiffs’ assertions.

Defense attorneys also performed a substantial amount of work in addition to the
multiple briefs produced and court appearances attended. Three of the five depositions
were taken by the Defendants. These depositions include Plaintiffs Dana Gentry and
Robert Clarke and their expert witness Kevin B. Kirkendall. The billing summary in
Exhibit D also shows numerous issues addressed between counsel that did not involve
the Court.

d.  The result.

Plaintiffs were given an opportunity to prove a case but lost on summary
judgment.

e. The hourly of $185 and time spent on this matter were reasonable.

Mr. James’s $185.00 hourly rate is reasonable. With over 19 years of experience
in multiple venues, Mr. James could charge substantially more than $185.00 per hour.
The Nevada Supreme Court has upheld a $250.00 per hour rate as reasonable. See Cuzze
v. Univ. & Cmtv. Coll. Svs. of Nevada, 123 Nev. 598, 607, 172 P.3d 131, 137 (2007). See
also, John Bryant Lawson v. William M. Lawson, Jr., No. 3: 14—CV—00345—WGC,
2016 WL 1171010, at *4 (D. Nev. Mar. 24, 2016) (finding $275.00 per hour for an
attorney with 10 years of experience, $325.00 per hour for an attorney with 12 years of
experience, $235.00 per hour for a first year associate, and $175.00 per hour for a
paralegal reasonable market rates.)

The lower hourly rate allows for a better work product through effective briefing
and the proper vetting of legal theories and case law. The Court is (hopefully) better
educated. Good work takes time. The lower hourly rate leaves more money for workers

as Local 1107’s funds come from membership dues.
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The hours expended are reasonable and justified because they accurately reflect
detailed accurate work. Defense counsel did not just throw something together to get in
front of the Court on a hope of winning. Defense counsel proceeded thoughtfully,
judiciously and thoroughly. Such careful conduct benefited all involved.

CONCLUSION

The Local 1107 Defendants respectfully request an award of legal fees in the
amount of $56,277.00, which consists of legal fees from January 16, 2019 through
December 31, 20109.

Dated this 14th day of January 2020.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:__ /s/Evan L. James

Evan L. James, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 7760

7440 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Telephone: (702) 255-1718

Fax: (702) 255-0871

Attorneys for Local 1107, Luisa Blue and
Martin Manteca
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| am an employee of Christensen James & Martin and caused a true and correct
copy of the foregoing document to be served in the following manner on the date it was
filed with the Court:

v ELECTRONIC SERVICE: Pursuant to Rule 8.05 of the Rules of Practice for the

Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, the document was electronically
served on all parties registered in the case through the E-Filing System.

Michael Macavoyamaya: mmcavoyamayalaw@gmail.com

Jonathan Cohen: jcohen@rsglabor.com

Glenn Rothner: grothner@rsglabor.com

UNITED STATES MAIL: By depositing a true and correct copy of the above-

referenced document into the United States Mail with prepaid first-class postage,
addressed as follows:

FACSIMILE: By sending the above-referenced document via facsimile as
follows:

EMAIL.: By sending the above-referenced document to the following:

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By:__ /s/ Natalie Saville
Natalie Saville
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